
Task and Finish Group on the future outlook for the 
media in Wales 
 

Meeting Venue: 
Committee Room 1 - Senedd 

 

 

 

Meeting date: 
1 December 2011  

 

Meeting time: 
12:30 

 

For further information please contact:  

Marc Wyn Jones 
Committee Clerk 
029 2089 8505 
CELG.committee@wales.gov.uk  

  

 

Agenda 
 

 

1. Introductions, apologies and substitutions   

2. Inquiry into the future outlook for the media in Wales (12.30 - 
15.15)  

 
Institute of Welsh Affairs (12.30 - 13.15) (Pages 1 - 52) 
Media(4)-04-11 : Paper 1 
 
Aled Eirug, representing Institute of Welsh Affairs 
Hywel Wiliam, representing Institute of Welsh Affairs 
 
 

Media Wales (13.15 - 14.00)  
 
Alan Edmunds, Managing Director 
 
 

Tindle Newspapers and NWN Media (14.00 - 14.45) (Pages 53 - 70) 
Media(4)-04-11 : Paper 2 
Media(4)-04-11 : Paper 3 
 
Bev Thomas, Managing Director, Tindle Newspapers 
Barrie Phillips-Jones, Editorial Director, NWN Media 
 

Public Document Pack



 
Cymdeithas yr Iaith Gymraeg (14.45 - 15.15) (Pages 71 - 84) 
Media(4)-04-11 : Paper 4 
 
Bethan Williams, Chair 
Colin Nosworthy, Communications Officer 
Dr Simon Brooks, Cymdeithas yr Iaith Gymraeg 
 

3. Paper to Note  (Page 85)  
Media(4)-04-11 : Paper 5 
 
Follow up information from the meeting held on 17 November from BECTU.  



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Taking responsibility for our media  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Response to the National Assembly Task and Finish Group  

inquiry into the future outlook for the media in Wales 
 

 

 

 

 

IWA Media Policy Group 
November 2011   

 

 

Media(4)-04-11 : Paper 1 Agenda Item 2a

Page 1



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    2 

 

 
 

IWA Media Policy Group 
 

Response to the National Assembly Task and Finish Group  

inquiry into the future outlook for the media in Wales 

 

  

 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS       3 

 

Introduction                9 

 

SECTION A: CURRENT ISSUES             10 

 

1  Channel 3 licences           11 

 

2  BBC         14 

  Network production           14 

  BBC services for Wales          15 

  Fewer, Bigger, Better      20 

  Re-investment       22 

  BBC2HD       22 

 

3  S4C         24 

 

4  Local Television       26 

 

5 Radio          28 

  BBC Radio Wales and BBC Radio Cymru   28 

  Radio Transmission      29 

  Commercial radio        32 

  Community Radio       33 

 

6  Online          36 

 

7 PSBs and Spectrum Allocation      38 

 

8 Newspapers         40 

 

SECTION B:  CREATING EFFECTIVE INFLUENCE    45 

 

 1 Creating effective influence      45 

 

 2  Devolution and broadcasting      47 

 

  Appendix 1 – Sources       50 

Page 2



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    3 

 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
 

Any healthily functioning society needs communications media that can connect people with 

their own communities, culture and democratic institutions.  

 

As a relatively young polity, in recent decades Wales’s need of a fertile and sustainable 

media landscape has grown. Paradoxically, at the very same time the traditional features of 

that landscape have been eroding, even as new technological vistas come into view. We 

can, too easily, be left with a sense of powerlessness, a sense that that landscape is beyond 

our control. This paper seeks to challenge that assumption.  

 

There are big legislative and regulatory changes on the horizon: renewal of the Channel 3 

licences in 2014, a new Communications Act in 2015 (or possibly sooner) and renewal of the 

BBC Charter in 2016-17. All these will affect Wales directly and have a capacity to alter our 

media and cultural landscape in fundamental ways.   

 

Technology and media policy is moving quickly, but Wales currently lacks sufficient capacity 

to keep pace with events - either within the civil service, or the Assembly’s hard-pressed 45-

backbench members - to sustain continuous forensic analysis of this fast-moving scene, and 

to develop the necessary foresight to anticipate and shape developments.  

There is an urgent need to establish systems – embracing Welsh and UK Ministers, the 

National Assembly, regulators, broadcasters, producers and Welsh civil society – that will 

generate for Wales a continuing, informed, timely and effective influence on policy and, 

where necessary, appropriate autonomy in governance and executive action. 

 

This should include  

! strengthening the civil service capacity in this field 

! establishing better joint working between the Heritage and Business departments  

! establishing a permanent independent media monitoring capacity 

! setting up a working group to bring forward proposals for the devolution of some 

responsibilities in this field within a UK framework, with priority being given to 

responsibility for S4C, community radio and commercial radio licensing in Wales.  

 

Wales also needs to develop urgently a coherent response to specific and foreseeable 

technological, content and funding issues that can affect our ability to sustain an informed 

democracy, a vigorous cultural life, and a thriving creative economy.  

 

As a foundation for this task the Welsh Government should commission a full review of the 

needs of Wales – its audiences, democracy, culture and economy – in terms of broadcast 

and online services, and with regard for developing technologies. This should be done in 

order to establish what should be the elements of an adequate service for Wales in both 

Welsh and English and to arrest the recent and continuing decline in the television services 

for Wales.    

 

Page 3



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    4 

 

Amongst the other priority issues facing policy makers are:   

 

! The need to secure a future ITV Wales service by creating a national Channel 3 licence 

for Wales, to be advertised when the current licences expire. The Welsh Government 

and civil society must make it clear that automatic renewal of the current ITV licences is 

unacceptable.  

 

! To need to prevent any further erosion of the BBC’s services for Wales, in television, 

radio and online, particularly in non-news programming such as documentaries, 

entertainment, arts, music and drama.  

 

! The need to secure completion of the BBC Investment in Roath Lock to enlarge its scope 

in ways comparable to the new BBC centres in Manchester and Glasgow.  

 

! That S4C, the BBC and the Welsh Language Board should complete their promised joint 

study of the Welsh speaking audience, so that the public can be assured that both BBC 

and S4C are working to a common understanding of the audience.  

 

! To explore the role of the BBC and S4C and independent producers in facilitating a not-

for-profit model of local television that is better suited to Welsh circumstances than 

current proposals.  

 

! To establish a radio transmission strategy that takes proper account of Welsh 

topography and allows our national radio services to compete on an equal footing with 

the BBC UK’s services.  

 

! Relaxation of cross-media ownership rules in a way that would help both the newspaper 

and local radio sectors.  

 

! Securing access to spectrum for public service broadcasters at a price that does not put 

further pressure on them to pare back their services.   

 

Recommendations  
 

SECTION A: CURRENT ISSUES 

 

Channel 3 licenses 

 

1. That the current ITV licences should be extended for not more than two years to allow for 

i) a full review of the needs of Wales in broadcasting and ii) the passage of a new 

Communications Act. The current public service requirements should remain in place 

during this extension.   

 

2. That when the current ITV licences expire that national licences should be created for 

Wales, Scotland, Northern Ireland and England.  

 

Page 4



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    5 

 

3. That the new licences should be awarded competitively on the basis of the quality of 

service offered, should prescribe service levels for Wales consistent with the review of 

the needs of Wales, and should be open to bids for not-for-profit operation of each 

franchise.  

 

BBC Television 

 

4. That the Welsh Government should commission a full review of the needs of Wales – its 

audiences, democracy, culture and economy – in terms of broadcast and online 

services, and with regard for developing technologies.  

 

5. That the BBC should ensure sufficient funding for BBC Wales to ensure that there is no 

reduction in the current scope of its services, though not exempting it from true efficiency 

savings.  

 

6. That the strengthening of BBC Wales’s services for Wales be included as a priority in the 

BBC’s proposed re-investment fund.   

 

7. That provision must be made for opt-out programming on any future BBC2HD channel.  

 

8. The need to secure completion of the BBC investment in Roath Lock in ways 

comparable to the new BBC  centres in Manchester and Glasgow, and as a hub for new 

digital industries.   

 

9. That the BBC should prescribe the requirements of television, radio and online services 

in the devolved nations in new national service licences for each nation.  

 

Other network output 

 

10. That Channel 4 should be required to commission not less than 10 per cent of its output 

from Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland.  

 

S4C 

 

11. That Wales must never again retreat from open discussion and scrutiny of a public 

institution of S4C’s scale and importance.  

 

12. That S4C, the BBC and the Welsh Language Board should complete their promised joint 

study of the Welsh speaking audience as soon as possible so that the public can be 

assured that both broadcasters are working on the basis of a common understanding of 

their audience.  

 

13. That an independent review of S4C should be jointly commissioned by the DCMS and 

the Welsh Government.  

 

Page 5



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    6 

 

14. That both S4C and the BBC should explore the potential for operational collaboration 

with rigour and urgency, so that both Welsh and English language services in Wales can 

benefit. Such collaboration should not be restricted to non-programme fields.   

 

15. That S4C should assist in the exploration of not-for-profit models for local television that 

may better suit Welsh circumstances.   

 

16. That S4C’s statutory foundation should be secured in the new Communications Bill and 

its remit amended to include online provision.  

 

Local television 

 

17. That the Welsh Government should support the adoption of a non-for-profit model for 

local television in Wales.  

 

18. That the Welsh Government should support steps to ensure that any local services 

launched in Wales have a prominence on EPGs comparable with local services 

elsewhere in the UK.  

 

19. That carriage fees for local television services should be significantly lower than for 

commercial services on the same multiplex.  

 

Radio  

 

BBC Radio Wales and BBC Radio Cymru  

 

20. That the BBC Trust should require Radio Wales and Radio Cymru to sustain the 

distinctiveness of their programming by the retention of feature programming within their 

schedules.  

 

21. That a condition be added to the Radio Wales licence requiring at least 100 hours per 

annum of arts coverage.  

 

22. That a similar condition be added to the Radio Cymru service licence, to guarantee the 

maintenance of at least the current level of arts coverage on the service. In implementing 

the condition on arts coverage that BBC Radio Cymru should seek beneficial 

collaboration with S4C.  

 

23. That BBC should ensure the earliest possible exchange of frequencies between Radio 

Wales and one of the BBC’s UK services in order to provide near universal coverage for 

Radio Wales.  

 

24. That Ofcom and the BBC should carry out and publish a joint study to determine the 

optimal radio transmission strategy for Wales, that will guarantee parity of coverage for 

local and Welsh national radio stations with their UK counterparts.  

 

Commercial radio and community radio 

Page 6



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    7 

 

  

25. That Ofcom and the Welsh Government should conduct a detailed study of the financial 

viability of all Wales-based radio stations, together with their levels of local output, to 

arrive at a view of how best to secure at least the current level of local provision for the 

future.  

 

26. That Ofcom should be empowered to prescribe levels of Welsh language output in ILR 

licences in Wales.   

 

27. That the Welsh Government should renew the existing Community Radio Fund for 

Wales, recognising that the sector will make an increasingly important contribution to 

media plurality and digital inclusion at a local level in Wales. 

 

28. That Consideration should be given to the devolution of community radio policy to the 

Welsh Government.  

 

29. Migration to DAB, if it occurs, offers an opportunity to clear the FM VHF band to enable a 

greater range of community stations to develop.  The Welsh Government should 

therefore consider how the existing Community Radio policy could be modified to 

address the specific needs of Wales.  

 

30. That the Welsh Government, in partnership with the UK Government, should develop a 

dialogue with receiver manufacturers, to ensure that future car radios continue to include 

AM and FM along with DAB (and other future digital formats). Radio manufacturers 

should also be encouraged to develop EPG style radios and other innovative 

technologies to ensure that community radio services are not left isolated on FM/AM.  

 

Online  

 

31. That the Welsh Government, in conjunction with Ocom, should monitor markets and 

technologies constantly and ensure that it has the best possible research capacity and 

data to stay ahead of the game.  

 

32. That the Welsh Government (and all its agencies) should address issues of demand-side 

stimulation so that the full economic, social and cultural benefits its investment in the 

enhanced connectivity of high-speed broadband is realized.  

 

Public service broadcasters and spectrum allocation 

 

33. That any consideration of the devolution of powers over broadcasting should also take 

account of the need for devolved powers in relation to the relevant areas of spectrum 

and telecommunications policy.  In a converged digital age, it is not possible to consider 

these policy fields in isolation. 

 

34. Consideration should be given for the public services broadcasters to be exempted from, 

or be subject to significantly reduced, AIP fees in return for specific PSB commitments.  

Page 7



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    8 

 

This would include in Wales, requirements relating to the Channel 3 licence to provide a 

suitable proportion of news and other programmes for Wales.  

 

 

Newspapers 

 

35. That the Welsh Government should support a measured relaxation of cross-ownership 

rules, while ensuring a minimum level of plurality within localities.  

 

36. That the Welsh Government should encourage local authorities to desist from producing 

their own newspapers or newsletters and to seek partnership arrangements with their 

local newspapers to secure their communications objectives.  

 

SECTION B: INFLUENCE AND RESPONSIBILITY 

Creating effective influence 

37. That a permanent and independent media monitoring capacity be established to monitor 

developments in media policy, performance and delivery, in order to inform government 

and other elected representatives and to nourish public debate.   

38. That the Welsh Government should strengthen the Heritage Department’s capacity to 

provide timely and expert advice to Ministers on media policy.  

39. That much stronger joint working arrangements between the Heritage and Business 

departments should be put in place to secure the maximum economic benefit from media 

policy.  

Devolution and broadcasting 

40. That the Welsh Government should establish a working group to examine options for the 

devolution or the sharing of powers (between Cardiff and Westminster) in the media field 

within a continuing UK framework – with initial consideration for responsibility for S4C, 

and commercial and community radio licensing. This exercise should include options for 

the devolution of some responsibilities within the BBC and Ofcom  

41. That the Welsh Government should take steps to establish a cross-party consensus in 

Wales on proposals that may emerge from the work group.  

 

Page 8



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    9 

 

Introduction 
 

Any healthily functioning society needs communications media that can connect people with  

their own communities, culture and democratic institutions, not only in ways that inform, 

educate and entertain but also in ways that both comfort and challenge. As a relatively 

young polity, in recent decades Wales’s need of a fertile and sustainable media landscape 

has grown. Paradoxically, at the very same time the traditional features of that landscape 

have been eroding, even as new technological vistas come into view. We can, too easily, be 

left with a sense of powerlessness, a sense that that landscape is beyond our control. This 

paper seeks to challenge that assumption.  

 

Any analysis of the current state of the media has to take account of issues around the 

volume and nature of content as well as the rapidly changing technological environment in 

which Welsh citizens consume media. Convergence in digital communications technologies 

is driving change.  

 

Analogue television broadcasting ceased in Wales at the end of March 2010 and digital 

television penetration has reached virtual saturation in Wales. Welsh take-up of broadband 

services has reached 71 per cent, close to the UK average and one third of all mobile 

phones currently in use in Wales are smart-phones, (such as I-player or Android), capable of 

surfing the net, showing video clips on YouTube and allow users access to social networking 

services such as Facebook and Twitter. The growth of the Internet is challenging long 

established business models – local media are under strain, competing for advertising 

revenue and prominence against the world wide web. Newspaper circulations have been in 

steep decline. Commercial radio ownership is increasingly consolidating as it attempts take 

on the BBC's UK services, creating a disincentive to provide local content and information.  

 

There are also big legislative and regulatory changes on the horizon: renewal of the Channel 

3 licences in 2014, a new Communications Act in 2015 (or possibly sooner) and renewal of 

the BBC Charter in 2016-17.  

 

The aim of this paper is to set out the policy questions that are particularly relevant to the 

continuing provision and strengthening of media in Wales. They fall into two broad groups, 

both of which need to be addressed urgently:  

 

1. our response to specific and foreseeable technological, content and funding issues as 

they affect Wales in terms of sustaining an informed democracy, a vigorous cultural life, 

and a thriving creative economy; 

  

2. the establishment of systems – embracing Welsh and UK Ministers, the National 

Assembly, regulators, broadcasters, producers and Welsh civil society – that will 

generate for Wales a continuing, informed, timely and effective influence on policy and, 

where necessary, appropriate autonomy in governance and executive action.    

Page 9



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    10 

 

SECTION A: CURRENT ISSUES 
 

There are several issues that Wales needs to grapple with, pertaining to the future shape of 

media – spectrum and telecommunications issues, local television, online investment. But 

there are some urgent matters that relate to existing services. The future of S4C has 

dominated the headlines in recent months, but there are equally pressing issues in relation 

to the services for Wales of both the BBC and ITV. There are currently at least three public 

consultations in train that affect Wales:  

 

1. In October, (in advance of its report due to be submitted by June 2012), Ofcom 

published an open letter1 asking for comment on the level of public service commitment 

that would be sustainable as part of its assessment of the future of the Channel 3 

licences, taking account of the benefits of holding such licences and of the proposed 

introduction of Administered Incentive Pricing (AIP) where broadcasters would make an 

annual payment based on the commercial value for the spectrum they hold. (There is no 

such charge at present.) The deadline for comments was 4 November 2011.   

 

2. Ofcom has been requested to provide advice on media plurality to both the DCMS 

Secretary of State and to the Leveson inquiry (by June 2012). Ofcom has invited 

comment on this issue no later than 18 November 2011. The questions being 

considered in the context of plurality by Ofcom include the following, "Are there any 

regions, areas or audiences (such as the devolved nations) which may require separate 

consideration, and why?" This consultation therefore provides another important 

opportunity to highlight the concerns regarding future media plurality in Wales.  

 

3. The BBC Trust is currently undertaking a public consultation on its proposals under the 

Delivering Quality First plans. This consultation concludes on 21 December 2011, and it 

is important that organisations in Wales, including the National Assembly and Welsh 

Government respond robustly and in detail.  

 

Beyond these the Communications Act, in particular, will have a capacity to alter our media 

and cultural landscape in fundamental ways. Among the issues that will come within the 

compass of a new Bill, and which will affect Wales directly, will be  

! the future of the Channel 3 licences, their geography and content 

! the statutory foundations of S4C 

! television production quotas for the public service broadcasters 

! radio licensing, localism and the ability to impose language requirements 

! the future shape of community radio 

! cross-media ownership rules 

! a regulatory framework that acknowledges the convergence of television and the  

 internet 

! future requirements for impartiality and balance that are fundamental to the tone of  

 media provision  

                                            

1 stakeholders.ofcom.org.uk/binaries/broadcast/tv-ops/Open-letter.pdf 

Page 10



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    11 

 

1  Channel 3 Licences 
 

The first two consultations listed above impact on the future of the Channel 3 (and Channel 

5) licences.  

 

Section 229 of the 2003 Communications Act places a duty on Ofcom to submit a report to 

the Secretary of State by June 2012 in anticipation of a new licensing round. (The current 

licences are due to expire at the end of 2014.)  ITV plc holds the Channel 3 licence for 

Wales and the West of England and it operates two services as part of this licence, ITV 1 

Wales and ITV 1 West.  Ofcom is required to report on the capacity of existing Channel 3 

and Channel 5 licence holders to “contribute to the fulfilment of the purposes of public 

service television broadcasting... at a cost... that is commercially sustainable.” The purposes 

of Public Service Broadcasting (PSB), set out in the Act, broadly focus on the delivery of 

high quality programmes, reflecting the lives and concerns of different communities in the 

UK and the provision of comprehensive and authoritative news coverage.  

 

Currently, the Channel 3 licence for Wales and the West of England requires ITV plc to 

provide in Wales 4 hours of news programmes (of which 2.5 hours must be screened in 

peak time) along with 1.5 hours of other programming (of which 47 minutes per week is 

made up of current affairs and 1 hour 15 minutes per week must be screened in peak or 

near peak).  In return for fulfilling these obligations, ITV plc benefits from high prominence on 

electronic programme guides (for example, channel number 3 on Freeview and 103 on Sky 

Digital and Freesat) and reserved capacity on the Freeview multiplexes that enable them to 

broadcast to over 98.5% of the Welsh population (via both standard definition and high 

definition services). According to a recent open letter published by Ofcom the company may 

also benefit from 'other intangible assets including brand benefits deriving from PSB status'.  

 

The problem however in the digital age is that the value of these benefits may not be 

sufficient to cover the cost of the existing PSB provision. In its second PSB Review Ofcom 

argued that, for ITV plc, the costs of PSB status would outweigh its tangible benefits before 

the initial licence expiry date in 2014. This may already be the case in relation to the Wales 

and West of England Channel 3 licence. 

 

There is a lot at stake for Wales. The ITV Wales news programme, Wales Tonight, remains 

an important source of news for Welsh audiences. Its nightly audience averages 163,000, 

representing an audience share of 17.1%. This also represents almost a third of the 

combined nightly BBC/S4C/ITV audience to Welsh news between 1800 and 2000. Across a 

week it reaches 674,000 people who watch for at least 15 consecutive minutes. The weekly 

current affairs programme, Wales This Week, broadcast in peak time, has an average 

audience of 150,000, and the political programme, Sharp End, has an average audience of 

35,000. In total these figures represent a major contribution to the sustaining of an informed 

democracy. No other broadcasting solution – certainly not local television – would come 

near to replacing that scale of audience to news of Wales. 

 

Understandably, ITV plc is in favour of renewal of its licences in 2014 for a 10-year period, 

arguing that this would be the best way to ensure that ITV continues to invest in 

Page 11



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    12 

 

programming for Wales. However, in the report to be submitted to the Secretary of State, 

Ofcom will have three options that it could recommend: 

 

• Extension of the present licences 

• Renewal of the existing licences with the present owners  
• Non-renewal, leading to advertising of new Channel 3 licences 

 

It is possible that the Secretary of State may decide on a short-term extension – say, two 

years - so that the future of these licences can be considered in the context of the planned 

new Communications Bill. While there is a sound logic to this course, there is a risk that, 

after 2014, ITV plc may not be able to sustain the present PSB obligations and may choose 

to hand back its licences. However, it is important not to overstate this risk. The latest 

indications are that ITV plc, whose fortunes seem to have revived somewhat since the last 

Ofcom PSB review, continues to see a value in being a public service broadcaster and in the 

provision of a special news service for Wales.  

 

In either renewing or re-advertising the Channel 3 licences, as opposed to extending the 

existing licences, Ofcom has indicated that, it would favour creating four separate national 

licences – including one for Wales, although in the case of renewal, ITV plc would have to 

consent to the creation of such a licence. This is an important matter as Wales is the only 

one of the devolved nations that does not have the benefit of an indigenous owner. ITV in 

Scotland is owned by SMG, and ITV in Northern Ireland by UTV. The ITV operation in Wales 

is simply a department within ITV plc, some of the consequences of which are that we have 

much less transparency about its costs and less influence over corporate decisions-making. 

Under a renewal scenario Ofcom would still have an opportunity to review the PSB 

obligations in the light of a new Communications Act, but ownership would be unchanged.  

 

Advertising new licences, on the other hand, would open up the ownership issue. Ofcom 

suggests that advertising new licences could, "reinvigorate the existing commercial PSB 

model, by encouraging potential licensees to develop innovative approaches to the delivery 

of public service objectives." Since this may be the very last opportunity to test the market 

for an ITV licence there is a case for taking this path, despite the argument that it might 

forsake the bird in the hand for two in the bush. However, in the current economic climate it 

would be important to dispense with a 1990-style auction, and simply ask bidders to present 

their best offer in terms of public service and sustainability.  

 

The Secretary of State could, subject to Parliamentary resolution, remove some of the 

present PSB obligations in the Channel 3 licences. It is crucially important, therefore, that 

Wales makes it clear which obligations must be retained in the Welsh interest even if, in 

England, the future development of local television were thought to reduce the need for 

regional programming on Channel 3. Ofcom already acknowledges that the provision of local 

television services would not be a comprehensive solution, particularly in more rural areas of 

England and would not satisfy the needs of the devolved nations including Wales.  

 

In the recent IWA conference on broadcasting (18 October 2011), Guy Phillips, Editor ITV 

Regional News, expressed ITV's aspiration to maintain news and current affairs 

Page 12



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    13 

 

programming for Wales "at a level of cost that ITV can commit to over the long term".2  But 

he made no reference to ITV's other non-news output which might disappear when, or if, the 

licence is renewed or re-advertised.  

 

As part of an ongoing News Review process, ITV has also recently been piloting a 

revamped 'news-hour' which could see Wales Tonight being broadcast slightly later within 

the hour, thus overlapping with the BBC's Wales Today which is broadcast at 6.30pm. These 

are only proposals at this stage but it is understandable that ITV Wales wishes to improve 

audience share for its programme by capturing a greater potential audience which becomes 

available later in the evening. The programme would be sandwiched seamlessly within in a 

network 6pm - 7pm news hour but while, in the English regions, the service would return to 

the network for the last 10 minutes of the hour, this short slot would be used in Wales to 

show some current affairs programming.   

 

ITV should be praised for its record over recent years of screening current affairs in peak 

and this new slot could deliver a larger audience to a genre that has diminished in popularity 

in recent years. But it should not be used as an excuse to reduce the amount of current 

affairs programming screened elsewhere in the peak time schedule, or to reduce the 

duration of the news for Wales.  

 

Finally, we must stress the urgency that surrounds this matter. The Secretary of State 

for Culture, Media and Sport, Jeremy Hunt, may take a decision on this matter at any 

time in the next six months. The Welsh Government needs to act now if it is to 

influence the outcome, and it must do so not only through private communication but 

also through promoting public debate. It must also mobilize political forces in both 

Houses of Parliament to support the Welsh interest in this matter.   

 

 

Recommendations:  

 

1. That the current ITV licences should be extended for not more than two years 

to allow for i) a full review of the needs of Wales in broadcasting and ii) the 

passage of a new Communications Act. The current public service 

requirements should remain in place during this extension.   

 

2. That when the current ITV licences expire that national licences should be 

created for Wales, Scotland, Northern Ireland and England.  

 

3. That the new licences should be awarded competitively on the basis of the 

quality of service offered, should prescribe service levels for Wales consistent 

with the review of the needs of Wales, and should be open to bids for not-for-

profit operation of each franchise.  

                                            

2
 ITV beyond 2014 – a public service broadcaster? Address by Guy Phillips, Editor, ITV Regional News. IWA 

Broadcasting Conference, October 2011. See http://www.clickonwales.org/category/lecture-library 

 

Page 13



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    14 

 

2  BBC Television 
 

There is no doubt that Wales has become hugely dependent on the BBC for television, radio 

and online services tailored to Wales’s own needs and audience. While this dependence 

might be regretted, there is no prospect of it being lessened by the emergence of any new 

provision in any medium that could be regarded as meaningly competitive in public service 

terms. This places a huge obligation on the BBC to ensure that its services for Wales are 

adequate for Wales’s needs in quantity, range and quality, and that it has both an appetite 

and a facility for sharing and partnering with other organizations in Welsh society.  

 

We are currently in a period of public consultation by the BBC Trust on plans for the 

remainder of this licence fee period, during which the licence fee will not increase. These 

have been published by the BBC Trust under the title, Delivering Quality First. The proposals 

encompass the new obligations imposed on the BBC by the UK Government. These include 

the funding of four additional responsibilities:  

 

! the BBC World Service and BBC Monitoring 

 

! funding of S4C through a new partnership  
 

! support for new local television services 

 

! raising and extending the current ring-fence in the licence fee for digital TV switchover 

from £133m a year to £150m a year, re-purposed to support broadband roll-out. 

 

The BBC has calculated that it needs to put in hand savings amounting to 16 percent of its 

expenditure plus another 4 per cent to allow for some re-investment in services, an overall 

target of 20 per cent. BBC Wales has been asked to save 16 per cent.   

 

The detailed consequences for BBC Wales of this order of savings have also been made 

public.  

 

The issues for us in Wales fall under two headings:  

! programme services  

! distribution/transmission issues.  

 

 

Network production 

 

On the plus side the BBC can point, quite legitimately, to the considerable efforts it has 

made to increase the economic stake that Scotland, Wales and Ireland (and the North of 

England) has in the BBC. In addition to its huge investment in the Media City complex at 

Salford Quays, it has invested in new facilities at Pacific Quay in Glasgow and the Roath 

Lock Drama Village in Cardiff. As a result the BBC expects the 17 per cent target for network 

television production from the three devolved countries to be met before the target date of 

2016.  

 

 

Page 14



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    15 

 

This is creditable record, even if in Wales there is a continuing three-fold concern  

! that the policy has still not allowed more than a superficial portrayal of the cultures and 

perspectives of those countries in network productions 

! that indigenous independent producers have not yet proved able to compete in higher 

end programme genres 

! that the investment in Cardiff will not be complete until a broader centre, comparable in 

scope to Glasgow or Salford, is completed in Cardiff Bay.  

 

Nevertheless Roath Lock is a very sizeable foot in the door, and it is important that 

commissioners in Cardiff continue to find ways of nurturing local talent into a self-sustaining 

competitive position.  

 

The importance of these initiatives by the BBC is only underlined by comparison with the 

out-of-London production situation in other public service broadcasters - ITV 1, Channel 4, 

and Five. Historically, quotas have varied significantly in their effectiveness.  For example, 

ITV has easily complied with its 35% out of London quota by volume and spend by 

commissioning from its programme centres in the north of England, without sourcing any 

content from Wales. Channel 4 has also agreed an 'out of England' quota with Ofcom, 

following the most recent PSB Review, but at a very modest level of just 3%. Channel Five, 

owned by Richard Desmond, has no targets.  

 

In the run up to the new Communications Act Wales will need to consider the future of such 

quotas. If any attempt is made to retain ITV within the PSB fold, it is highly probable that the 

out-of-London production quota will disappear. This will not be a great loss to Wales, as ITV 

has commissioned almost nothing from Wales for many years. However, there is every 

reason to seek to retain and strengthen the Channel 4 quota for production outside England, 

although this will not be easy to achieve if, as seems likely, the current de-regulatory climate 

persists.  

 

We believe that Channel 4 should be required to commission not less than 10 per cent of its 

output from Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland.  

 

BBC services for Wales 

 

There is cause for greater concern regarding the BBC’s services for Wales. In recent years 

the BBC has been reluctant to define its strategic approach to provision in the devolved 

nations, other than through the decentralization of production of UK network output. In 2010 

the BBC Management conducted a Strategic Review that managed to avoid any mention of 

the services within the nations. The IWA raised this with the then Chairman, Sir Michael 

Lyons, but gained little satisfaction.  

 

There has been some change of tone in the latest document, Delivering Quality First. In his 

Chairman’s introduction, Lord Patten states:    

 

“In making any changes, we want to ensure that the BBC continues to improve 

the extent to which its services resonate with all the UK’s nations, regions and 

Page 15



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    16 

 

communities and reflect the devolved nature of the UK and the distinctive 

characters of its constituent parts.” 

 

There is much yet to be done to make good on that commitment, but one pre-condition must 

be that the BBC should, in dealing with this issue, cease conflating investment in network 

production in the nations with investment in services made solely for the audiences in those 

nations. In recent times it has regularly given in to that temptation, seemingly because it 

fears the financial consequences of treating them separately – and this even before the 

licence fee was frozen by this government. The BBC appears to believe that there is a trade-

off between the two, but Wales and the BBC need to be clear that the one is not a substitute 

for the other.  

 

It may well be that the decentralisation of network production and the relocation of some 

service commissioners to bases outside London will make the BBC’s UK services ‘resonate’ 

rather better with the nations and regions – and, we would hope, make the smaller nations 

resonate better across the UK - but the reduction in spend on the services for the devolved 

nations will not improve the reflection of the “devolved nature of the UK and the distinctive 

character of its constituent parts”.  

 

The second need is for us stand back from the arguments about particular services or cuts to 

particular programmes, and to make an assessment of just what an adequate English 

television service for Wales might look like in the round. Such an assessment was done for 

Scotland a few years ago. Set up by the Scottish Government, the Scottish Broadcasting 

Commission3 published a fulsome report in 2008 that set out what Scotland’s democracy, 

culture and economy required of its broadcasting system. It set out a concept of a Scottish 

Digital Network that would be an independent channel costing around it £75 million per 

annum, funded via the licence fee. The echoes of the S4C proposition are easy to see, 

except that this would be an English language service.   

 

Nothing similar has been attempted in Wales, despite the fact that the English language 

television services in Wales – BBC and ITV - have shrunk just at a time when one might 

have expected them to respond, through increased size and scope, to reflect the changes 

that arise from the quickening devolutionary process. The decentralization of network 

production has been the main response from the BBC because, in programme budget terms, 

even if not in capital expenditure, it is expected to be cost neutral. Although there have been 

some gains, such as the provision in 1999 of additional resources for coverage of the 

devolved institutions, there has been no fundamental review of the English language 

television service for Wales.  

 

In its last Annual Review4 the BBC’s own Audience Council for Wales expressed a concern 

that is widely shared outside the BBC. It said:  

                                            

3
 Platform for success, Final Report of the Scottish Broadcasting Commission. 2008. See 

http://www.scottishbroadcastingcommission.gov.uk 

4
 BBC Audience Council for Wales, Annual Review 2011. See 

http://www.bbc.co.uk/wales/audiencecouncil/sites/annual-review/documents/review_acw_2011.pdf 

Page 16



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    17 

 

“The Council remains deeply concerned at the level of financial cuts in recent 

years for producing local programming for Wales experienced by BBC Cymru 

Wales, despite the increased level of Network programming being produced by 

BBC Cymru Wales. If legitimate audience expectations are to be met the recent 

decline in overall investment in English language television programming in 

Wales must be reversed. 

 

“ACW continues to share the concerns articulated by audiences that the recent 

Licence Fee settlement, with its real terms cut of 16% in income during the life 

of the settlement, will further impact adversely on the BBCʼs ability to produce 

local programming in and for Wales, following so closely after an extended 

period of cost savings during the previous five years. While the outcomes of the 

BBC review Delivering Quality First are yet to be seen, the Council would be 

troubled if one outcome were to be any dilution or diminution in the range or 

depth of programming specifically for Wales”.  

 

It is clear both from the Delivering Quality First document, and from the detail announced 

later by the Director of BBC Wales, Rhodri Talfan Davies, that such a diminution is exactly 

what is proposed, although there are to be some shifts in the priorities of BBC Wales that we 

would welcome. We will address these issues of detail later.  

 

But overall, the combination of the past RPI safety net for S4C funding and continuing 

funding reductions in ITV and BBC – a reduction of 31% over the last five years, according to 

Ofcom - has led to an untenable disparity between the funding of Welsh language and 

English language television services for Wales.  

 

As Menna Richards, recently retired Director of BBC Wales, said in a lecture5 on 4th 

November this year, “between 2006 and 2011 the number of hours of English language 

programmes has gone down by more than 16 per cent, the equivalent of more than one 

hundred hours of broadcasting – that’s a hundred hours less output about Wales for Welsh 

audiences from Wales’s national broadcaster.”  

She pointed out that from 2013 (despite the 25 per cent cut imposed by the DCMS) the 

licence fee will be supplying S4C with close on £100m. - £75m. direct from the BBC Trust, 

and £23m. via BBC Wales under the BBC’s statutory obligation to supply 10 hours a week - 

while the BBC Wales expenditure on its English language television service is scheduled to  

reduce to £19million. (This compares with a peak spend of £26.8m in 2005-066.) ITV Wales’s 

spend is probably now down to less than £5 million, compared with nearly £13m. in 2007.7 

                                                                                                                                        

 

5
 A view from the frontier of broadcasting, Menna Richards, Wales Political Archive lecture 2001. See 

http://www.clickonwales.org/ category/lecture-library/ 

6
 p24, Communication and Content: The media challenge for Wales, Report of the Broadcasting Advisory Group 

to the Welsh Assembly Government, November 2008. See 

http://wales.gov.uk/docs/drah/publications/20090730communicationandcontent.pdf 

Page 17



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    18 

 

Within BBC Wales this is a return to a level of funding for the English language television 

service that was last seen in the 1990s. In our view it is not a level that can sustain a service 

that is adequate for Wales’s needs, needs that have themselves changed and grown 

considerably in the intervening period. It has to be noted that the very thorough work in 

Scotland concluded that the combined BBC and ITV services in Scotland were not fully 

adequate for Scottish needs, even though the spend by BBC Scotland on its television 

service is almost twice that by BBC Wales, and the combined BBC/ITV spend more than 

double.    

 

It is important to stress here that we are not advocating the transfer of funding from the 

Welsh language to the English language. Sustaining the funding of S4C remains important, 

because it is as much an instrument of language policy as of broadcasting policy. The 

contrast in funding merely emphasizes the paucity of provision in the English language and 

the inevitably limited range of material that can be produced within the current and worsening 

constraints.  

 

We have requested data on the output and costs of the BBC’s services for the nations, but 

are still awaiting a response. We will forward this when it is received. However, significant 

comparisons between output and spend in the nations across both BBC and ITV companies 

is instructive. Between 2004 and 2010, Wales saw the biggest drop in spend of any of the 

three nations, both in absolute terms and percentage terms.   

 

TV spend on English language television for the nations  

BBC and ITV/STV/UTV – 2010  

  Spend £m Spend £m Change £m  Change %  

  2004 2010 2004-10 2004-10 

Wales  49 25 -24 -49 

Scotland  72 52 -20 -28 

N Ireland  43 24 -19 -44 

Source: Communications Market Report 2010  

 

This halving of the spend on English language programming for Wales has had its biggest 

impact in the reduction of general programming (i.e other than news or current affairs) where 

the disparities between Wales and Scotland are becoming ever more marked. In recent 

years Ofcom’s annual Communications Market Report has painted a depressing picture of 

the decline. In 2010 the output for the nations across BBC and ITV was as follows:  

 

  Total hours  Change %  Change %  

  2010 2009-10 2005-10 

Wales  1002 -3 -24 

Scotland  1881 14 13 

N Ireland  1007 4 -13 

 

Output for Scotland and Northern Ireland, across the BBC and ITV,  actually increased in 

2010, in Scotland largely as a result of STV increasing the frequency with which it opted out 

                                                                                                                                        

7
 p22, Ibid.  

Page 18



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    19 

 

of the ITV network schedule. The biggest differences in the nations are in current affairs and, 

in particular general programming:  

 

  

Total 

hours News  

Current 

Affairs 

Total 

N/CA 

Non-

N/CA 

Non-

NCA % 

Wales 1022 623 99 722 300 29 

Scotland  1881 782 209 991 890 47 

N Ireland  1007 650 81 731 276 27 

Source: Ofcom Communications Market Report  

 

According to the Ofcom figures, general programming comprises only 29 per cent of the 

output for Wales, but 47 percent of the output for Scotland. The BBC provided 300 hours of 

general programming for Scotland, against 247 hours for Wales.  

 

There is clearly an urgent need to institute a full appraisal of what an adequate service for 

Wales might be. At the IWA’s conference, Ron Jones, the Executive Chairman of Tinopolis, 

put it this way:8  

 

“There is a consensus that Wales is not getting the television it needs.  Not 

since the days of the last ITV licence award has there been a coherent attempt 

to assess what Wales needs. The Ofcom UK review of local services some 2 

years ago was useless…..  

“As a country we need to identify those elements of television that we need for 

specifically Welsh cultural, linguistic, social or democratic reasons.   

“Public Service Broadcasters should make explicit commitments defining their 

responsibilities and commitments to Wales and we need to ensure that these 

are developed through an open and public discussion of the issues involved. 

“Such a review should be initiated and agreed after full public consultation and 

the involvement of all key stakeholders.  Ideally these would include DCMS, the 

BBC Trust, S4C, the Welsh Government and its NDPB’s with relevant 

responsibilities as well as the Assembly and Welsh MP’s.  In practice some will 

elect not to play but the politics of this are against them. 

“The result of such a review should inform our policy for public service 

broadcasting and be the base upon which we ensure that, in addition, this 

broadcasting is structured to provide the maximum economic benefit.” 

We would endorse this approach, and see it as a preliminary to the development of a 

comprehensive BBC Trust service licence for Wales. We return to this issue in a later section 

on devolution and broadcasting.  

                                            

8
 A new agenda for broadcasting in Wales, Address by Ron Jones, Executive Chairman, Tinopolis. IWA 

Broadcasting Conference, October 2011. See http://www.clickonwales.org/category/lecture-library 

 

Page 19



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    20 

 

In the meantime, the BBC needs to address the anomaly whereby the television services in 

the nations are not specified in the same detail as the radio services in the nations, or the 

BBC UK services. They are stated instead as simply annexes to the service licences of BBC 

ONE and BBC TWO, with the broadest expectation that they observe the requirements of 

those two services, together with conditions that each should produce a minimum number of 

hours. These quantitative requirements also vary, although it is not clear on what basis.  

Actual output usually exceeds these minimum conditions.  

 

Fig 2: Television in the nations – BBC Trust service conditions  

Hours per annum Scotland Wales N. Ireland 

BBC ONE 265 - NCA 

140 - non-news 

250 - NCA 

  60 - non-news 

280 - NCA 

  80 - non-news 

BBC TWO  190 non-news 160 – non-news   55 – non-news 

Total  595 470 415 

 

Our concerns about the future of the BBC Wales television service are reinforced by three 

other factors:   

! The ‘fewer, bigger, better’ proposition and its impact on programme range 

! The lack of any reference to the nations in the proposed list of priorities for  

 re-investment.  

! The apparent ruling out of opt-out programmes on BBC2HD 

 

Fewer, Bigger, Better 

 

Delivering Quality First  justifies the ‘fewer, bigger better’ approach in this way:  

  

“Bringing more television programming and radio output made specifically for 

Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland to UK audiences with a ‘fewer, bigger, 

better’ strategy for opt-out programming in general. Today, very little television 

output from these parts of the UK is shown to the rest of the country and there 

is significant scope to bring more output like A History of Scotland and Coal 

House to audiences around the UK.” 

 

On the surface this seems a sensible approach, and there will be times when it is appropriate 

and desirable. But it is not an appropriate strategy ‘for opt-out programming in general’. (Our 

italics) Many in Wales will be concerned lest it should lead to a situation where even the 

reduced output has to be tailored, some would say compromised, in order to appeal to 

audiences beyond Wales. This could become an undesirable constraint on the need for 

commissioners to focus their scarce resources on serving audiences in Wales in the most 

distinctive and relevant way, and a constraint imposed for financial rather than editorial 

reasons.  Wales needs a broader not a narrower reflection of itself on television.   

 

That brings us to the question of programme range. Much attention has been paid to the 

importance of news services for Wales. These are essential to ensure an informed 

democracy. Broadcast news is crucially important, because research has demonstrated time 

and again that this is means by which the vast majority of people in Wales receive their 

information about the polity in which they live, and whose institutions affect their lives directly. 

Television is the dominant news source.  

Page 20



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    21 

 

 

However, any objective assessment of the reduction in English language television 

programming for Wales over the last five years will show that it is the non-news areas of 

programming that have suffered. By and large news and current affairs have been protected. 

It is in documentaries, arts and music and entertainment for Wales that we have seen the 

reduction.  

 

In 2008 the Welsh Government’s Broadcasting Advisory group foresaw the current decline, 

and calculated that we would reach a situation where “two thirds of the total annual output in 

English across BBC Wales and ITV Wales will be in the category of news and current affairs 

(c.775 hours), with 17% (c.200 hours) devoted to sport and less than 15% (c.170 hours) 

devoted to a combination of drama, music, arts, factual and light entertainment 

programmes.”9 

 

It added:  

“The current English language provision in these areas is not a defensible 

provision for a developed national community that brings to table the sort of 

cultural legacy that Wales commands. At a time when so much Welsh 

performance talent is flourishing in the wider worlds of film, theatre, opera, 

music and musical theatre outside Wales, it is unacceptable that television 

drama, comedy, light entertainment, music and arts, created out of and for 

Welsh circumstances, should be so severely under-developed. 

“We cannot hope to see Welsh talents bring genuine diversity to UK networks, if 
there is not the space for them to develop their own voice at home in the 

language of their choice. Drama lies at the heart of most high quality television 

services, yet is all but absent from English language services in Wales. Welsh 

society and politics lacks the regular challenge of comedy and satire in both 
languages. Light entertainment taps only a fraction of Wales’s deeply rooted 

performance culture. The exposure given to the diverse arts of Wales, at a time 

when arts organisations themselves are seeking new partnerships, is fitful. 
 

“Though we have heard much criticism from many sources, much of it born of 

frustration, such a situation is not the result of poor editorial decision-making, 
but the result of systemic constraints - an assessment of the balance of need 

between the centre and the devolved nations that is outdated, and institutional 

arrangements that, in Wales’s case, adequately address only the distinct 

requirements of the Welsh- speaking audience.”10 
 

Even in the latest announcements from BBC Wales there is an evident will to protect news 

and current affairs programming, even if there are proposed changes in the form of some 

political programmes. It is regrettable, therefore, that most comment from the political 

                                            

9
 Communication and Content: The media challenge for Wales, Report of the Broadcasting Advisory Group to 

the Welsh Assembly Government, November 2008. See 

http://wales.gov.uk/docs/drah/publications/20090730communicationandcontent.pdf 

10
 p32, Ibid. 

Page 21



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    22 

 

community on BBC Wales’s proposals has concentrated on a perceived risk to political 

output rather than to the actual reductions planned in non-news output. This is to put the 

narrow interests of the political community before the interests of the wider audience, to fail 

to see beyond the communications needs of political institutions to the need to provide on 

radio and television a full reflection of Welsh society in all its rich and diverse manifestations.  

 

Re-investment 

 

The lack of reference to services in the nations in the BBC’s list of priorities for reinvestment 

is disturbing, since it would appear to reinforce the lacuna in the BBC Strategy Review of 

2010, which omitted all reference to services in the nations. The case that has been made for 

the general inadequacy of media provision in Wales, not just the limitations of the BBC’s 

services, surely requires that BBC Wales should be able to access the re-investment pot. It 

should be remembered that the total spent on the content of the BBC’s UK-wide television 

services in 2010-11 was £1.865 billion. The content spend on the BBC Wales English 

language television service in the same year was £23 million, 1.2% of the total. There is still 

room for further re-prioritisation.  The spend on the BBC’s UK Radio services was £483m, of 

which Radio Wales at £13m represented 2.7% and Radio Cymru at £11.8m represented 

2.4%.   

 

BBC2HD 

 

In the long term the proposal to dismiss the possibility of opt-out provision on a future 

BBC2HD channel is one of the most disturbing proposals in the DQF report. It is also one of 

a number of distribution issues that should concern us in Wales.  

 

The DQF report states:  

 

“We will immediately invest to make the three versions of BBC One in Scotland, 

Wales and Northern Ireland broadcast in high definition by the end of 2012. 

However, we do not believe it is affordable or good value for money to convert 
the current BBC Two variants in Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland to high 

definition. The current standard definition variants on BBC Two will be maintained 

at least until 2015 while we review their long-term future; however, we are 
committed to maintaining the range and quality of the television output we 

currently provide” 

 

The take-up of HD across Wales and Britain is substantial. It has been estimated that 94 per 

cent of UK households will have a television set capable of receiving HD by 2016. In time this 

is likely to be the main viewing mode. In Wales we have already had experience of a BBC 

ONE service with no opt-out provision. It means that anyone viewing, say, the Six O’Clock 

News in HD, does not see the in-programme headlines for Wales, and has to change 

channels at  6.30 in order to watch Wales Today.  

 

The BBC proposes to remedy this on BBC1HD, but to perpetuate the anomaly on BBC2HD. 

The former is welcome, but the latter is not an acceptable proposition for three reasons:  

 

Page 22



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    23 

 

1. The majority of BBC Wales non-news programming is screened on BBC2. The proposal 

will result in the bulk of BBC Wales output for Wales being seen as second-best because 

only screened in standard definition.   

 

2. The DQF statement does not give any certainty that that BBC2 will be retained in 

standard definition after 2015.  

 

3. BBC2 is the channel that allows BBC Wales to extend the range of its programming. 

Many of these programmes, not least live rugby, would not be suitable for the BBC1 

schedule. The lack of an opt-out facility on BBC 2 would impose a radical limitation on the 

service for Wales.   

 

 

Recommendations:  

 

4. That the Welsh Government should commission a full review of the needs of Wales 

– its audiences, democracy, culture and economy – in terms of broadcast and 

online services, and with regard for developing technologies. 

 

5. That the BBC should ensure sufficient funding for BBC Wales to ensure that there 

is no reduction in the current scope of its services, though not exempting it from 

true efficiency savings.  

 

6. That the strengthening of BBC Wales’s services for Wales be included as a priority 

in the BBC’s proposed re-investment fund.   

 

7. That provision must be made for opt-out programming on any future BBC2HD 

channel.  

 

8. The need to secure completion of the BBC investment in Roath Lock to enlarge its 

scope in ways comparable to the new BBC centres in Manchester and Glasgow, 

and a hub for new digital industries.   

 

9. That the BBC should prescribe the requirements of television, radio and online 

services in the devolved nations in new national service licences for each nation.  

 

10. That Channel 4 should be required to commission not less than 10 per cent of its 

output from Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland.  

 

 

Page 23



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    24 

 

3  S4C 
 

Arguably, the recent history of S4C represents the single, clearest failure by Wales, its 

elected representatives and its Government, to exercise effective and timely influence in the 

broadcast sphere. It is too easy to blame everything on failures of management and 

governance at S4C, and on neglect by the DCMS, but we also have to recognize that the 

widespread unwillingness in Wales to discuss openly the performance and future of S4C - 

before crisis made it unavoidable - constituted a failure of nerve by Welsh society as a whole. 

Indirectly, this is what enabled a UK Government minister to force through a deal in a hurried 

and secretive negotiation with a BBC that had itself been put on the backfoot. It is a lesson 

for us all.   

 

Everybody in Wales must wish that S4C quickly achieves a stability in governance, 

management and funding that will allow it to recapture its past standing, even though it will 

have to discover a new connection with audiences, a more focused approach to delivering 

distinct public value – both through television and online – and a creative, constructive way of 

working with its new main funder, the BBC.  

 

Despite justifiable criticism of the process by which this partnership between the BBC and 

S4C was created through political force majeure, a partnership arrangement now exists that 

strikes a balance between S4C’s need for operational independence and the BBC Trust’s 

need for accountability for the licence fee. The success of this arrangement will depend on 

the way that both parties approach the task, but in essence it is no more complex an 

arrangement than was devised for the channel at its inception in 1982.  

 

That is not to say that it is an ideal arrangement. It will need to be monitored and assessed 

over the next two years, so that a view can be formed as to what further modifications to the 

partnership or to S4C’s statutory underpinning might be needed – in a new Communications 

Act - to safeguard S4C’s position and to bring the Welsh Government into play in determining 

the channel’s future funding.  

 

The more difficult task will be to achieve the operational collaboration that the partnership 

envisages in a way that delivers benefits to both sides. In many ways no more is being asked 

of S4C and the BBC than is being asked of our local authorities right across Wales – namely, 

that they should share resources wherever possible so that viewers/citizens can gain the 

maximum benefit.  

 

Welsh Ministers and Assembly committees should seek to hold both organizations to 

account, to ensure that the promised collaboration is real, constant and fruitful, not only in 

financial terms  but also in enhancing the creative output of both.  

 

Regular and detailed scrutiny is necessary. For instance, more than a year ago it was 

announced that the BBC, S4C and the Welsh Language Board would collaborate on a 

project to achieve a common understanding of the Welsh-speaking audience. Such work is 

necessary given the continuing change in the number and, as importantly, the fluency of 

Welsh speakers. We have yet to see any sign that this work has been completed, which is 

Page 24



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    25 

 

regrettable given its importance in laying a solid foundation for new strategies for Welsh 

language services on television, radio and online.   

 

It is armed with this shared understanding that S4C should define its proposition anew, 

based on a rigorous appraisal of audience needs and an appreciation of the privileged 

capacity it has to generate both cultural and economic benefits, particularly through 

partnership working with other cultural agencies. That capacity has yet to be fully exploited, 

either in the cultural or economic spheres. We must hope that its new co-production fund will 

generate a more outward-looking approach that will increase the appetite and the capacity of 

the independent production sector to look beyond the Welsh domestic market. Too few 

production companies have used the S4C platform to break into other markets, although 

there are some notable exceptions.  

 

Much has been made of the requirement on the BBC to facilitate developments in broadband 

and local television. As a public service broadcaster S4C should also strive to play a much 

bigger role in online development in the Welsh language, and its recently announced New 

Media Forum and £1m a year digital fund are important first steps. We would also support 

the S4C Authority’s decision to play an active part in exploring the potential of local television 

in Wales. It has a role to play, especially if a distinct Welsh social enterprise model can be 

developed. It is important that S4C’s statutory remit, which currently is restricted to television, 

is brought up to date to allow it to respond more swiftly to changing technology and 

consumer behaviour.  

 

 

Recommendations:  

 

11. That Wales must never again retreat from open discussion and scrutiny of a public 

institution of S4C’s scale and importance.  

 

12. That S4C, the BBC and the Welsh Language Board should complete their promised 

joint study of the Welsh speaking audience as soon as possible so that the public 

can be assured that both broadcasters are working on the basis of a common 

understanding of their audience.  

 

13. That an independent review of S4C should be jointly commissioned by the DCMS 

and the Welsh Government.  

 

14. That both S4C and the BBC should explore the potential for operational 

collaboration with rigour and urgency, so that both Welsh and English language 

services in Wales can benefit. Such collaboration should not be restricted to non-

programme fields.   

 

15. That S4C should assist in the exploration of not-for-profit models for local 

television that may better suit Welsh circumstances.   

 

16. That S4C’s statutory foundation should be secured in the new Communications 

Bill  and its remit amended to include online provision.  

Page 25



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    26 

 

4  Local television 
 

The plans for local television introduced by the UK Government have not been greeted with 

much enthusiasm by the broadcast industry. There is a widely held view that commercial 

viability will be difficult to establish even in sizeable cities. The Minister’s own adviser, 

Nicholas Shott, was himself cautious about the prospects. His report said: ‘…local TV will not 

be financially viable distributed by DTT in sparsely populated rural areas. It may, however, be 

possible to sustain 10 to 12 local TV services around major conurbations’.  

 

Notwithstanding this caution, the Culture Secretary, Jeremy Hunt, has proposed that 20 local 

services should be licensed in a first round, with perhaps 40 more following a year later. 

Many of these designated areas are rural.  

 

Of the six areas identified for Wales, only two might be regarded as heavily urbanised areas 

that get above a population figure of 200,000: 

! a licence covering Cardiff, Newport, Barry, the Vale of Glamorgan and Bridgend, and 

stretching patchily up into the lower valleys including Pontypridd and Caerphilly 

! a licence covering Swansea (but not the Swansea valley) and Llanelli. 

The other four must be more marginal: 

! North east Wales – an essentially rural area taking in the small towns of Mold, Ruthin 
and Denbigh (plus an area outside Wales south of Chester), but excluding the north 

east’s biggest town, Wrexham. 

! Menai Straits – an area comprised of Bangor and south Anglesey, including Llangefni, 
and part but not all of Caernarfon. 

! South Carmarthenshire – an area including Carmarthen and Ammanford, and north to 

Llandeilo and south to Kidwelly but excluding Llanelli. 

! Mid Pembrokeshire – an area taking in Haverfordwest and not much else other than the 

south side of the Preseli hills. Pembroke and Tenby are excluded. 

 

However, there remains a strong feeling in parts of the industry and in many community 

organisations that Wales should not spurn this experiment, but should rather explore it and 

see whether a Welsh variant could be developed. Before the last UK General Election three 

consortia were formed in Wales to bid to supply the ITV Wales news, at a time when it was 

thought that ITV would withdraw from this service. These were known as IFNCs – 

Independently Financed News Consortia. The bidding process spawned a diverse range of 

partnerships and offered an opportunity for experimentation.  

 

Although this concept was abandoned by the new government, many believe that some of 

the ideas and partnership formed then could be applied to the idea of more local services. 

However, since it is expected that new local services will ultimately be delivered through 

internet-based television (IPTV) it may be better for Wales to concentrate on a format more 

suited to online, and more suited to the available funding.  

 

Page 26



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    27 

 

This could have the added advantage of allowing local initiatives – such as the online 

equivalents of the papurau bro (community newspapers) and community radio – to 

eventually link together. To facilitate this it might be better for Wales to look to a social 

enterprise model rather than a commercial model that will struggle for survival. If such a 

model emerges, the Welsh Government should give it all possible support, particularly in 

persuading the UK Government, should it be necessary, to allow the adoption of a not-for-

profit model. It should be willing to use existing community funding schemes, such as the 

Communities First programme, to support local television initiatives that adopt a not-for-profit 

model.  

 

It is the Government’s intention to allow local television services a prominent slot on the 

Freeview electronic programme guides (EPGs). However, there is a problem over availability 

of a slot in the top eight both in Wales and Scotland. This needs to be resolved quickly so 

that anyone planning a service within Wales has both certainty and a comparable 

prominence to local services elsewhere in the UK.  

 

Currently, the proposed model for the delivery of local television will be based around a 

single, UK-wide multiplex carrying local services.  The multiplex will have sufficient capacity 

to carry several services, in addition to the local television service in each of the 20 areas 

proposed.  The multiplex operator, therefore, has a potential revenue stream through carriage 

fees, if services from other broadcasters are also carried on the multiplex. The local service 

will presumably sell its own commercial airtime and retain the (probably modest) advertising 

income from this source. However, in this new model, it will be essential to fairly balance the 

commercial interests of the multiplex operator and the local television providers. In particular, 

to assist in viability, there should be a requirement, set by the regulator, that carriage fees 

charged to the local television services by the multiplex operator should be significantly lower 

than those charged to commercial services carried on the same multiplex. 

 

 

Recommendations:  

 

17. That the Welsh Government should support the adoption of a non-for-profit model 

for local television in Wales.   

 

18. That the Welsh Government should support steps to ensure that any local services 

launched in Wales have a prominence on EPGs comparable with local services 

elsewhere in the UK.  

 

19. That carriage fees for local television services should be significantly lower than 

for commercial services on the same multiplex.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 27



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    28 

 

5  Radio  
 

BBC Radio Wales and BBC Radio Cymru  

 

Wales’s dependence on the BBC is just as great in radio as in television, perhaps more so. 

Commercial radio services in Wales have never been strong, and although there are some 

local radio stations that perform well, there has been no national commercial radio station for 

Wales until Real Radio recently acquired licences in the north that allowed it to complete an 

all-Wales footprint. However, Real Radio, like many other commercial stations, has had to 

limit the amount of speech/local content as a result of financial pressures.  

 

This makes it all the more important for the BBC’s two national radio services in Wales to 

retain their distinctiveness. An important context for discussion of these services is the BBC 

Trust’s own review of radio services in the nations. We would have expected this review to 

have been more rigorous that it was, especially in seeking to benchmark services in the 

nations against each other and against a systematic assessment of need.   

 

Fig. 3: BBC English language national radio stations - Costs £m 

Radio  

(English) 

BBC Radio Scotland BBC Radio Wales BBC Radio 

Ulster/Foyle  

Content 23.8  13.0 16.2 

Distribution 3.3 1.2 1.8 

Infrastructure/support 5.3 2.8 3.6 

Total  32.4 17.0 21.6 

 

Fig. 4: BBC Welsh/Gaelic language national radio stations – Costs £m 

Radio  

(Gaelic/Welsh)  

BBC Radio nan  

Gaidheal 

BBC Radio Cymru  

Content 3.8 11.8 

Distribution 1.4 1.6 

Infrastructure/support 0.9 2.7 

Total  6.1 16.1 

Source: BBC Annual Report 2010-11 

 

In our view it is not acceptable, nor can one easily justify a situation where the funding of 

BBC Radio Wales is not only 45 percent lower than BBC Radio Scotland but also 20 per cent 

lower than BBC Radio Ulster. In the case of Scotland, part of the justification for the higher 

spend is a condition in the Radio Scotland service licence that it include in its service not less 

than 200 hours of arts programming including a daily arts show. This simply prompts the 

question – why is there no comparable condition in the Radio Wales and Radio Cymru 

services licences, especially given the BBC’s stated desire for partnership working in the 

cultural field? The cultural sphere is no less important in Wales than in Scotland and may, 

arguably, be more important here.  

 

In the case of Radio Cymru this would be a matter of endorsing its already substantial 

provision – such as through wall to wall coverage of the Urdd Eisteddfod and National 

Eisteddfod and the weekly bardic competition, Talwrn y Beirdd.  

 

Page 28



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    29 

 

A condition on arts coverage should be included in the service licences of both Radio Wales 

and Radio Cymru. In the case of the latter it could also be a key area for future collaboration 

with S4C.   

 

Neither is this the only anomaly. In the crucial area of news and current affairs, Radio 

Scotland is required to provide 43 hours a week, Radio Ulster 27 hours (and an additional 8 

hours a week for its offshoot Radio Foyle) while Radio Wales is required to produce only 24 

hours a week, and Radio Cymru 16 hours. Even if local differences might require different 

service levels, there was no attempt in the BBC Nations Radio Review to explain or justify 

these figures. Even so, there seems to be an inconsistency between the broad conclusions 

of the review and what is now proposed under the Delivering Quality First proposals. 

 

The Nations Radio Review placed its emphasis on the need to preserve the most distinctive 

content and even considered “whether conditions specifying minimum broadcast hours 

should be introduced or amended to safeguard the stations’ contribution to, for example, arts, 

drama, documentaries, comedy, religion, specialist music, live music, news, current affairs”. 

Only two months later DQF takes a subtly different and more ambiguous line: “we will only 

introduce conditions if we feel they are necessary to guarantee minimum levels of output in 

key public service areas”. Since there are currently no conditions in the Radio Wales and 

Radio Cymru service licences, apart from on news and current affairs, it is hard to see that 

this now has any positive meaning.  

 

BBC Wales does have commendable plans to increase its investment in radio news, 

particularly in the morning sequence, but it is equally clear that it is having to reduce the 

amount of off-peak built programming in favour of longer and cheaper talk sequences. This is 

bound to shrink the quantity of ‘distinctive programming’ favoured by the Nations Radio 

Review and to narrow its range. This, admittedly more expensive programming, is the victim 

of a circular argument. It is scheduled off-peak where, given almost universal patterns of 

radio listening, it will achieve a relatively small audience, and then axed because it is not 

winning enough listeners. If the BBC Trust’s Nations Radio Review is to mean anything the 

Trust should ensure that this distinctiveness is not lost for the sake of a relatively small 

saving.  

 

Radio transmission   

 

Radio transmission has been an increasing problem over the decades as each succeeding 

transmission technology – Medium Wave, FM and DAB - has been less suited to the Welsh 

terrain than its predecessor. In each case, improved sound quality (where the signal is good) 

has had to be set against poorer coverage of the population. This has led to a situation 

where Radio Wales still trails every other BBC radio station in the UK in terms of its coverage 

of the population on FM – at present covering only 68.7%11 of the Welsh population. Radio 

Cymru has a population cover of 94.8%.12 The gap is the result of the original decision in the 

late 1970s to launch Radio Cymru on FM with Radio Wales on AM.   

                                            

11
 p82, Communications Market Report Wales, Ofcom. 2011   

12
 Ibid. 

Page 29



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    30 

 

Moreover, Radio Cymru and Radio Wales, which have to find a place on commercially 

funded multiplexes, are carried on only two of the DAB multiplexes in Wales – 

Cardiff/Newport and Swansea - whereas the BBC’s UK radio stations - Radio 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 

Live, 6, 7, BBC World Service and BBC Asian Network – are carried on the BBC’s UK-wide 

miultiplex13 which is now available across most of Wales. This is an anomaly that cannot be 

allowed to persist.    

 

Ofcom has licensed local commercial multiplexes covering the whole of Wales but due to 

uncertain market conditions and the high cost of investment in DAB, only the Swansea and 

Cardiff/Newport multiplexes are currently on air.  The local multiplexes have 'must carry' 

requirements for 'BBC local services' which in this case include BBC Radio Wales and Radio 

Cymru (even though they are not 'local services').  There is another multiplex receivable in 

Wales that serves the Severn Estuary but this 'regional multiplex' is not subject to the must 

carry requirements for BBC local services. 

 

In this situation the decision to increase the power of the Radio Wales FM transmission from 

the Wenvoe transmitter near Cardiff - increasing the population cover by another 200,000 - is 

both very welcome and very overdue. However, it will only take the FM coverage for Radio 

Wales from 68.7 to around 75%. It will still be in the position of competing not just with 

commercial opposition but also with the BBC’s own UK radio services, with one hand tied 

behind its back.  

 

This situation has been allowed to persist for more than a decade despite complaints from 

the BBC’s own Audience Council for Wales and Ofcom’s Advisory Committee for Wales. It is 

no wonder that the BBC Trust’s own review revealed that the average amount of time 

listeners spend tuned in to Radio Wales has fallen over the last five years from 11.3 hours in 

2005-06 to 9.4 hours in 2010- 11. Listening hours are low compared with Radio 4 (13.6 

hours) and Radio 2 (13.1 hours).14  

 

This same review did offer the first ray of hope to Radio Wales. Amongst its proposed action 

points is the following:  

 

“As part of the wider review of BBC funding we will ask BBC Management to 

undertake a definitive cost:benefit analysis exploring the various options for 

addressing the lower coverage levels for Radio Wales on FM and each 

national station on DAB. These options include the possibility of exchanging 

FM frequencies, in Wales, between Radio Wales and another BBC radio 

station with more universal coverage.”15  

                                            

13
 The multiplex is broadcast as a single frequency network and it is not technically possible to vary services 

carried on it in Wales compared to the rest of the UK.  So for example, it would not be possible to broadcast 

Radio Wales in place of the BBC Asian Network on this multiplex in Wales. 

14
 p63, The BBC’s national radio stations in Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales, Service Review. BBC Trust, 

September 2011.  

15
 P24, Ibid 

Page 30



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    31 

 

The Trust set an implementation date of April 2012 for this action point. We look forward to it 

meeting that deadline, and ensuring the swiftest possible implementation of an exchange of 

FM frequencies, between Radio Wales and, presumably, the UK service that has the 

smallest audience in Wales, Radio 3.  

 

The UK’s radio transmission plans have never taken full account of Welsh topography, and 

without a change of course this is likely to persist in a DAB world.  

 

The BBC plans to roll-out its UK multiplex to 97% of the population, while its local services, 

including its services in the nations, will get to 90% of the population at best. Although 90% 

would be better than the current 45% DAB coverage in Wales, attaining even 90% will be 

dependent on partnership with commercial operators, some of whom have chosen, for 

commercial reasons, to delay the installation of multiplexes even having won the licence to 

do so. It will also be dependent on the UK Government’s decision on switchover and the 

release of further capacity.16  

 

It is not easy to see how DAB will be able to match FM’s coverage in Wales. Wales will need 

to make a strong case for the retention of FM coverage, and even of AM coverage for Radio 

Wales for as long as is necessary. It should be remembered that even in south Wales which 

does have DAB cover, only 36% of listeners currently own a DAB set. In addition, new 

technologies are emerging in Europe and elsewhere that could be more suitable to Wales’s 

topography such as DRM (Digital Radio Mondiale, using the medium wave) and DRM+, 

broadcast on the VHF band currently used for FM.  There could also be consumer issues if 

the current ageing DAB standard (criticised by some for its poor audio quality) is upgraded to 

DAB+, which makes better use of the available spectrum and potentially offers better sound 

quality. It will not be possible to upgrade older DAB sets to this new standard. 

Although Ofcom has been leading a process to plan the rollout of DAB, this will not be 

sufficient for Welsh purposes. There is a need for a joint exercise between Ofcom and the 

BBC to establish an optimal radio transmission strategy for Wales that provides as near 

universal coverage as possible and parity of coverage for local and Welsh national radio 

stations with their UK counterparts. This must take account of the need in many areas to 

retain FM and/or AM coverage.   

 

 

Recommendations:  

 

20. That the BBC Trust should require Radio Wales and Radio Cymru to sustain the 

distinctiveness of their programming by the retention of crafted programmes 

addressing discrete subjects within their schedules.  

 

21. That a condition be added to the Radio Wales licence requiring at least 100 hours 

per annum of arts coverage, and resources provided to facilitate this.  

 

                                            

16
 Ofcom published a consultation on proposals for improved DAB coverage in June 2011.  

http://stakeholders.ofcom.org.uk/consultations/dab-coverage-planning/ 

Page 31



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    32 

 

22. That a similar condition be added to the Radio Cymru service licence, to guarantee 

the maintenance of at least the current level of arts coverage on the service. In 

implementing the condition on arts coverage that BBC Radio Cymru should seek 

beneficial collaboration with S4C.  

 

23. That BBC should ensure the earliest possible exchange of frequencies between 

Radio Wales and one of the BBC’s UK services in order to provide near universal 

coverage for Radio Wales.  

 

24. That Ofcom and the BBC should carry out and publish a joint study to determine 

the optimal radio transmission strategy for Wales, that will guarantee parity of 

coverage for local and Welsh national radio stations with their UK counterparts.  

 

 

 

Commercial Radio 

The commercial radio industry faces significant challenges in the years to come. The 

present economic climate combined with long-term structural changes in the advertising 

markets are already proving to be particularly challenging and some smaller stations have 

already closed and handed their licences handed back to Ofcom.  Although the present 

recession is not helping, the decline in the viability of local commercial radio is a long term 

trend which has been evident for several years.   

Radio stations face increasing fixed costs (staffing, transmission, premises) but declining 

advertising revenues with increasing competition from the Internet. This is particularly 

marked for those groups that rely to a greater extent on advertising income from the larger 

UK based advertisers rather than local advertising.  Some radio groups, such as Global are 

moving away from a local radio model to a networked service approach across their UK local 

stations via a few core brands, Heart, Capital and Gold, in an attempt to compete against the 

BBC's services, particularly Radio 1 and 2.  

The tough economic conditions have already taken their toll in Wales in recent years.  

Valleys Radio was closed by its parent group UTV Radio around two years ago and last year 

Radio Maldwyn, serving mid Wales and the borders very nearly closed before being 

acquired by new owners and re-named as Radio Hafren. Interestingly both services are 

broadcast on AM (medium wave) a platform where listener numbers are declining. 

On the positive side the Guardian Media Group's Real Radio won a licence to serve mid and 

north Wales and is now the first Wales-wide commercial radio service.  In addition, Town 

and Country Broadcasting, Wales' largest indigenous group, owns stations in west and south 

Wales which are largely profitable, through having a more locally based advertising model 

and a stronger local service ethos.  

Ofcom still currently requires a minimum amount of local content to be provided by local FM 

stations - broadly around 10 hours per day. Owners will argue that this will become 

increasingly difficult to sustain due to mounting economic pressures, and the DCMS, in 

response, may well be tempted to advocate further de-regulation in the forthcoming 

Page 32



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    33 

 

Communications Act, possibly in return for greater investment in DAB digital radio 

transmission. 

If this were to happen it would represent a further loss of service for Wales. Rather than 

accepting predictable UK industry-wide representations, Ofcom and the Welsh Government 

should conduct a detailed study of the financial viability of the Wales-based stations and 

their current level of local service to arrive at view of how best to retain the maximum of local 

service to audiences in Wales.   

In addition to wishing to see radio licensing devolved – which could easily be done by giving 

the function to Ofcom’s Advisory Committee for Wales – we would also expect a new 

Communications Act to give Ofcom the power to rule on the nature of Welsh language 

provision on commercial stations.   

Community Radio 

In the context of pressures on commercial providers, it is likely that the community radio tier 

of stations will become increasingly more significant in Wales. Community radio services 

were introduced as a new not-for-profit tier of radio by Ofcom in 2004, based on the 

requirements of the Community Radio Order.  There are currently nine community radio 

services broadcasting in Wales.  

The Order sets out the terms under which stations can operate with the emphasis on the 

provision of social gain to identified geographic communities or communities of interest, with 

a significant commitment to volunteer access and training.  The draft Order was the subject 

of intense lobbying by the commercial radio sector and consequently community stations are 

broadly limited to raising no more than 50 per cent of their income from commercial sources. 

Additionally, under the terms of the Order (as amended), if the transmission of the area of 

the community station overlaps by more than 50 per cent with that of a small scale 

commercial station (serving fewer than 150,000 listeners) then the community station is not 

allowed to raise any commercial income. This is the case with two stations in north Wales, 

Point FM (based in Rhyl) and Tudno FM (based in Llandudno) whose services overlap with 

Heart  (formerly Coast FM), a commercial service which also serves the area.   

Community stations source their non-commercial finance from the public sector through 

grants and service level agreements - for example, to provide training courses - although 

these are becoming more difficult to secure in the current economic climate.  There is 

currently very little contact between the stations in Wales and the Welsh Government has 

undertaken work to develop and strengthen this sector through improved communications. 

This could, for example, offer the possibility of creating a coordinated joint air time sales 

capacity for the sector in future. 

The stations are designed to cover far smaller geographic areas than commercial stations, 

typically no more than a 5KM radius on FM (VHF). However, AM (medium wave) 

transmission is also an option, offering greater day time coverage but suffering from poorer 

reception at night due to interference from continental stations.  However, current 

transmission policy, which favours DAB, makes coverage of sparsely populated large rural 

areas more difficult – a significant issue referred to above. Ofcom has recently held a further 

round of community radio licensing  in Wales and some of the  applications received are 

based in more rural areas where a wider area coverage might be required. 

Page 33



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    34 

 

Ofcom operates a Community Radio Fund (£0.5 million a year), which has to service the 

needs of over 200 stations across the UK.  But in addition, the Welsh Government currently 

operates a fund specifically for the stations in Wales, worth £0.5 million over five years.  

Given that only nine stations qualify for this funding, it has so far proved to be vital for the 

stations in Wales, supporting their overall sustainability. The fund's current term ends in 

2012 and it is now being reviewed by the Welsh Government's Heritage Minister, Huw Lewis 

AM.  

Potentially, community radio represents an important media sector for Wales.  By their 

nature, the services generally have far higher levels of speech based content than the 

music-led commercial stations based in Wales, although they are often not well-resourced 

enough to provide an extensive amount of local news. Nevertheless, community radio 

stations do, through their general speech programming, make a significant contribution to 

media plurality at a local level, particularly as the local press has declined significantly in 

many areas of Wales.  They also provide an important method of addressing digital 

exclusion, by training volunteers and providing them with access to digital technology and 

on-line services.  The Welsh Government has already recognised the sector's contribution in 

this area and its potential to assist with future economic regeneration and renewal. 

The present regulatory regime places a significant burden on community radio.  However, 

there may be an opportunity for liberalisation if the proposed switch to DAB Digital Radio 

transmission eventually goes ahead.  At that point, much of the present VHF Band II, used 

for FM transmission will be freed up as the BBC's services and the larger commercial 

stations move over to DAB.  This would provide more spectrum for community stations to 

continue to operate on FM in VHF Band II.  

However if this move does happen (and it is by no means a certainty at this stage) it will be 

vital that these services are not left 'isolated' from new DAB receivers that do not also 

include FM.  Manufacturers could help in this area with some design innovations. For 

example, it would be possible to develop electronic programme guides for digital radios 

which would combine the RDS digital data from existing FM services with DAB data (and 

other future digital formats such as DAB+ or DRM+) to offer listeners the ability to select 

stations by name, without being concerned about the band/transmission technology used.  

In this way, the prominence of community stations could be maintained in the digital age. 

 

Recommendations 

25. That Ofcom and the Welsh Government should conduct a detailed study of the 

financial viability of all Wales-based radio stations, together with their levels of 

local output, to arrive at a view of how best to secure at least the current level of 

local provision for the future.  

26. That Ofcom should be empowered to prescribe levels of Welsh language output in 

ILR licences in Wales.   

27. That the Welsh Government should renew the existing Community Radio Fund for 

Wales, recognising that the sector will make an increasingly important 

contribution to media plurality and digital inclusion at a local level in Wales. 

Page 34



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    35 

 

28. That consideration should be given to the devolution of community radio policy to 

the Welsh Government.  

29. Migration to DAB, if it occurs, offers an opportunity to clear the FM VHF band to 

enable a greater range of community stations to develop.  The Welsh Government 

should therefore consider how the existing Community Radio policy could be 

modified to address the specific needs of Wales.  

30. That the Welsh Government, in partnership with the UK Government, should 

develop a dialogue with receiver manufacturers, to ensure that future car radios 

continue to include AM and FM along with DAB (and other future digital formats). 

Radio manufacturers should also be encouraged to develop EPG style radios and 

other innovative technologies to ensure that community radio services are not left 

isolated on FM/AM.  

 

 

Page 35



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    36 

 

6 Online  

 
Digital Convergence is having a profound impact on the provision and availability of media 

services.  Broadly, the content provided is no longer defined by the type of network, as was 

the case in the past. Content provision has been separated from the transmission medium.  

For example, video content can now be distributed on-line – to smart televisions, computers, 

smartphones and tablets - and is no longer the preserve of television broadcasting.  

 

Independent producers are increasingly realizing that obtaining broadcast commissions is not 

the only option – providing programmes on-line offers a direct way to reach their audiences 

representing a new route to market. For example, the producers of Alan Partridge Mid 

Morning Matters, a comedy about a fictional radio station, secured distribution direct to its 

audience via broadband with sponsorship from Fosters larger.  Some producers in Wales 

have also been looking at this as a possible distribution option. 

 

At the same time public service broadcasters are collaborating to provide an internet-based 

video on demand service through YouView – a combination of digital TV, plus BBC iPlayer, 

ITV Player, 4oD, Demand 5 and SeeSaw. This is a development that may alter viewing habits 

in a more fundamental way even than personal video recorders have done in recent years. It 

will be imperative that content designed for Wales, whether in Welsh or English, is easily 

available through such services on all platforms. Welsh content cannot risk being confined to 

a digital attic.   

 

Convergence is enabling new services and technologies to develop.  Smart TVs, that enable  

the television to act as a central hub for on-line as well as broadcast content, are now 

becoming available as mass-market consumer goods. Broadband penetration has already 

reached 71% of households in Wales and the Welsh Government has ambitious plans, 

through its next generation broadband procurement, currently being conducted, to secure a 

minimum of 30 Mbps of connectivity to all premises in Wales by 2015.   

 

While these developments provide boundless opportunities for innovation, in the public and 

private sectors and for broadcasters and producers, it is worth remembering that even in this 

environment television has remained the dominant platform – and this despite the greater use 

of on-line by younger people and their ‘media stacking’ habits of using more than one medium 

– facebook, texting and TV viewing simultaneously. 

 

It will be essential for the creative media industries to grasp these new commercial, 

technological and creative opportunities.  The Welsh Government has demonstrated its 

awareness of the importance of this sector by designating it as a priority sector for economic 

development and establishing both a Creative Industries Advisory Panel and a Digital Wales 

Board. Wales has emerging talent in private companies and in its universities – developments 

such as the entrepreneurial ‘boot camp’ linked to Newport University. Newport’s own Institute 

of Advanced Broadcasting is currently exploring models of IPTV. Local television, if it 

emerges, would logically end up being provided on-line, in a way that is far more cost-

effective than terrestrial broadcast.  

 

This is a fast moving area and it will be essential that the industry and government retain the 

knowledge and flexibility to respond speedily to technological and commercial developments 

 

 

Page 36



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    37 

 

 

Recommendations 

 

31. That the Welsh Government, in conjunction with Ofcom, should monitor 

markets and technologies constantly and ensure that it has the best possible 

research capacity and data to stay ahead of the game.  

 

32. The Welsh Government (and all its agencies) should address issues of 

demand-side stimulation so that the full economic, social and cultural benefits 

of its investment in the enhanced connectivity of high-speed broadband is 

realised. 

 

 

 

Page 37



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    38 

 

7 PSBs and spectrum allocation 
 

The UK's television services are broadcast, by international agreement, in UHF bands IV and 

V which, for the purposes of engineering an analogue television network, was divided into 

47 channels, each 8 Mhz wide, numbered as channels 21-68 and running from 471.25 Mhz to 

853.25 Mhz.  These frequency allocations were agreed internationally in the early 1960s.  

However, more recently, the value of this sub 1Ghz spectrum has increased significantly due 

to the development of digital mobile technologies and convergence.   

Spectrum engineers often refer to the UHF band as the 'sweet spot' because it represents 

the optimal part of the radio spectrum in terms of service provision and commercial 

exploitation.  There is a trade-off between frequency and the capacity to carry information 

(bandwidth) - higher frequencies are needed for data intensive services such as mobile 

broadband, but for a given power they don't travel as far as lower frequencies. The UHF 

band is optimal because its frequencies are high enough to carry large amounts of data, but 

still low enough to travel significant distances (and penetrate building walls etc).   

The development of digital terrestrial television has provided a significant economic 

opportunity for the UK.  DTT makes more efficient use of the spectrum than the old analogue 

system.  One 8 Mhz UHF channel that used to carry an analogue television channel can 

instead carrry a DTT multiplex, capable of carrying 8-10 DTT services, or even up to 4 high 

definition television services.  Once the digital s witchover process has been completed 

across the UK, a significant amount of spectrum in the UHF band will be released for other 

purposes.   

The 800 Mhz band will soon have been cleared of television services and is being 

coordinated across Europe for the use of mobile voice and broadband services.  Ofcom is 

due to start an auction process for UK-wide licences of this spectrum later next year.  In 

addition it will also be auctioning spectrum in the 2.6Ghz band for use by much more local 

mobile services, mainly in urban areas. To coincide with this development and the 

liberalisation of the 900Mhz, 1800Mhz and 2.1 Ghz spectrum currently used by the mobile 

operators, new technologies - 4G/LTE services - are currently being developed which will 

allow much faster mobile broadband services, compared to the current 3G services.  The 

spectrum to be auctioned by Ofcom will inevitably attract very high bids due to its economic 

value to mobile providers and broadcasters. 

The future licensing of Channel 3 and 5 services also, therefore, raises spectrum allocation 

issues. Ofcom has cleared the 800 Mhz band ready for a spectrum auction process next 

year which could result in new 4G/LTE mobile broadband services being deployed.17 The 

television transmitter operator, Arqiva in conjunction with the telecommunications operator 

Alcatel Lucent, successfully conducted trials of this new technology at the Preseli television 

transmitter last year.  A new trial of 4G/LTE mobile services is currently being conducted in 

central London. 

Given the significant value of this and other spectrum, policies concerning its efficient use 

have been developed.  During the last decade there has been a shift away from the 

traditional 'command and control' approach of the past to market mechanisms, in which 

                                            

17
 Ofcom is likely to include 95% coverage obligations in at least one of the 800 Mhz licence to be advertised as 

part of the auction process, to encourage the provision of mobile broadband services in more rural areas. 

Page 38



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    39 

 

spectrum will be a tradeable commodity.  In addition, a regime of administered incentive 

pricing (AIP) will aim to maximise spectrum efficiency and create a disincentive to hoard 

spectrum without using it.  In the future, it is likely that broadcasters, along with all other 

spectrum users will have to pay AIP charges. 

Since there is no spectrum charge at present the introduction of a charging system could 

seriously affect the capacity of public service broadcasters to deliver the services that we 

will expect of them. For instance, it may be fundamental to an assessment of what public 

service obligations we can expect a Channel 3 licensee (ITV) to provide. If, as is expected, 

the charge will also be levied on the BBC, it could harm the case – set out above - for 

providing a facility for opting out in the nations on BBC2HD.  

In its October, open letter18 Ofcom asked for comment on the level of PSB commitment that 

would be sustainable as part of its assessment regarding the future of the Channel 3 

licences, taking account of the benefits of holding such licences and of the proposed 

introduction of Administered Incentive Pricing (AIP) where broadcasters would make an 

annual payment based on the commercial value for the spectrum they hold. This would be 

part of a wider policy to secure maximum spectrum use efficiency applying to all category of 

users (including for example, mobile voice and broadband service providers). The deadline 

for comments was 4 November.   

 

Recommendations:  

 

33. That any consideration of the devolution of powers over broadcasting should also 

take account of the need for devolved powers in relation to the relevant areas of 

spectrum and telecommunications policy.  In a converged digital age, it is not 

possible to consider these policy fields in isolation. 

 

34. Consideration should be given for the public services broadcasters to be 

exempted from, or be subject to significantly reduced, AIP fees in return for 

specific PSB commitments.  This would include in Wales, requirements relating to 

the Channel 3 licence to provide a suitable proportion of news and other 

programmes for Wales. 

 

                                            

18
 stakeholders.ofcom.org.uk/binaries/broadcast/tv-ops/Open-letter.pdf 

Page 39



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    40 

 

7 Newspapers 
 

Newspapers are a key component of media plurality. Although television is now cited as the 

primary source of information for the majority of people, newspapers perform their 

journalistic function in a way that differs significantly from public service broadcasters. They 

are not bound, either by statute or Royal Charter, to observe balance and impartiality. They 

are freer to campaign and to offer partisan opinion, whilst the nature of the print medium 

often allows for a level of detailed coverage that is often difficult to achieve on radio or 

television. It is important, therefore, that we should do everything possible to encourage a 

flourishing newspaper industry in Wales.   

The weaknesses of the print media dispensation in Wales have been rehearsed many times. 

Newspaper consumption in Wales is dominated by London titles that contain little or no 

news of Wales outside sport. There is no truly national newspaper that circulates equally 

throughout the country. The circulations of our only indigenous daily morning newspapers – 

the Daily Post in north Wales, and the Western Mail in south and mid Wales - have been in 

sharp decline for more than a decade. By now they account for scarcely more than 10 per 

cent of daily readership in Wales.  

In common with most other regional newspapers that decline is continuing. The latest 

available figures, for the first six months of 2011, and showing the year on year decline, are 

as follows:  

Title Circulation Change % 

Daily Post  31,802 -1.9 

South Wales Argus  23,332 -5.5 

South Wales Evening Post  40,149 -5.8 

South Wales Echo 32,754 -7.4 

Western Mail  26,931 -8.9 

The Leader (Wrexham, Flint,Chster) 16,131 -12.5 

Source: ABC 

It must be of concern that the newspaper that devotes the most attention to the workings of 

Welsh democracy saw the second largest circulation decline in that period, although it has to 

be said that UK titles have been experiencing even bigger declines. In September 2011 all 

UK titles showed very sharp year on year contraction.  

Title Circulation Change % 

Daily Mirror 1,143,778 -5.73 

Daily Star 681,268 -21.18 

The Sun 2,725,323 -8.37 

Daily Mail  2,008,817 -6.32 

Daily Telegraph 607,186 -7.92 

Financial Times 344,583 -11.7 

The Guardian  232,566 -16.38 

The Independent  176,983 -3.17 

The Times  429,554 -11.77 

 Source: ABC 

 

Page 40



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    41 

 

 

This same pattern was also seen in Scotland’s main indigenous titles, although it has to be 

said that these titles face more competition from the Scottish editions of London 

newspapers.  

Title Circulation Change % 

The Herald (Glasgow)  46,797 -12.28 

The Scotsman  39,428 -9.23 

Source: ABC 

Newspaper production within Wales is dominated by one large regional newspaper 

company, Trinity Mirror plc, which owns more than 160 titles across the UK, and 40 per cent 

of the titles in Wales, including the Western Mail and Daily Post.  The other companies in the 

sector are Newsquest (South Wales Argus), Northcliffe Media (South Wales Evening Post), 

NWN Media (based mainly in North Wales), and the Tindle Group. 

As the National Assembly’s June 2009 inquiry19 reported, all are under pressure, largely as a 

result of the migration of classified advertising from print to the web, but also from increases 

in newsprint costs. The business model for newspapers has been revolutionised by the 

development of online media. Most newspaper groups regard online versions of the core 

newspaper as essential component of a sustainable business model, even if the complete 

content of the newspaper is not replicated online. However, no profitable business model 

has been found thus far, and the investment is not at present delivering the requisite profits, 

and many believe that it is unlikely ever to do so.    

The effect of the shift to the web has been characterised by one commentator as ‘replacing 

analogue pounds with digital pennies’. This is clearly illustrated in Trinity Mirror’s last interim 

accounts that record an operating profit margin of 14.8 per cent on its print activities, but 

only 3.6 per cent for its digital activities20 - the latter still accounting for only 11 per cent of its 

regional revenues.  

At present there is little to substantiate an optimistic view of the impact of online on the 

profitability of newspaper groups and it seems inevitable that as consolidation continues, the 

numbers of staff, including journalists, will decline and that the quantity and quality of original 

journalistic content will suffer.   

The 2009 report conceded that the National Assembly and the Welsh Government could do 

little to change market forces in the sector, but that the Assembly and Welsh Government 

could work together to “provide some relief to local newspapers in these difficult times.” That 

situation has not changed.  

Opportunities to assist lay in three areas: 

                                            

19
 The Welsh Newspaper Industry. Report by the Communities and Culture Committee Broadcasting Sub-

Committee. June 2009  

20
 Trinity Mirror Interim Results, August 2011 

Page 41



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    42 

 

! Seeking a relaxation of cross-media ownership rules to allow the exploration of new 

partnerships while also protecting the plurality of media. (Such a relaxation was 

proposed by Ofcom last year.21) 

! Developing ‘a strategic approach to public sector advertising taking account of the 

circulation and penetration of newspapers involved and ensuring that relevant titles are 

not overlooked. 

! Reducing the use of local authority newsletters, that the 2009 inquiry judged to be “not 

an appropriate use of public funds”.  

Those conclusions are still relevant today. This current Task and Finish Group has already 

heard the continuing concerns about the future of the sector in Wales and the reduction in 

the number of journalists and in journalistic content.  

Cross ownership 

The cross-ownership rules are that one person cannot own, in a local radio coverage area,  

! a local analogue radio licence; and 

! a regional Channel 3 licence whose potential audience includes at least 50% of that 

radio stations potential audience; and 

! one or more local newspapers which have a local market share of 50% or more in the 

coverage area ( the Remaining Rule). 

Ofcom was asked to consider whether ‘the remaining rule’ should be dropped. Although it 

said this was a matter for political judgment and decision, it said the risks of a concentration 

of control needed to be weighed against more reassuring factors. They were:  

! Local media is facing significant economic pressure which the most recent 

evidence suggests is becoming more acute. Removing the remaining rule 

could allow local media greater options to consolidate to respond to these 
pressures. 

 

! While only a limited group of consumers (5%) consider the internet their main 
source of local news, there is a growing diversity of local news available 

through non-traditional media. There are therefore increasingly alternative 

sources of plurality. 
 

! As noted, there are protections for plurality which would continue to operate: 

the combination of the BBC and the commercial sector, the public interest test 

operated by the Secretary of State and the merger regime would all continue 

to operate in parallel.  

Given the parlous state of the finances of both local radio and newspapers, there is much to 

be said for seeing whether they could assist each other either through partnership or 

merger. For example, there may be something to be said for enabling the strengths of 

                                            

21
 Response to the Secretary of State: Local media – cross ownership rules. Ofcom 2010. 

Page 42



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    43 

 

newspapers such as the Daily Post and Western Mail to be used to strengthen news 

coverage on commercial radio. Some have also wondered why there is not greater 

collaboration between the two titles, given that they do not complete in each other’s primary 

territory.   

Although some will worry about a threat to media plurality, this has to be balanced against 

an equal concern about the limited reach of Welsh news sources. We believe that it is 

inhibiting and unfair for newspaper companies not to be able to take ownership of other 

media outlets on a local level, whilst radio and television commercial companies are able to 

do so. However, any assessment of the impact of a relaxation of current cross-media 

ownership must be based on its impact on the local media market in Wales, and not wider 

considerations of the UK market. The Competition Commission would still need to be vigilant 

‘to prevent concentrations in local media through the merger regime’.   

Supporting journalism  

Recent years have seen the emergence of many online initiatives that expand the area of 

commentary – the IWA’s own clickonwales.org and waleshome.org are but two examples -  

but these should not be seen as an alternative to professional journalism. Society still needs 

a professional cohort paid to monitor, investigate and report. The unpaid journalism of 

opinion, often representing specific interests or otherwise partisan points of view, is not an 

adequate substitute.  

That is why the Welsh Government should use whatever legitimate means it can to support 

the viability of newspapers, through a continued spend on advertising where appropriate, 

and through persuading local government to solve their own communications needs in 

partnership with local newspapers rather than in competition with them.  

Whilst the volume of job advertising by Government in newspapers has markedly reduced in 

the past four years, with most job advertising having moved to official websites, it still has a 

responsibility to advertise printed highway orders and public notices. In 2009 the committee 

recommended that this should be done in the most relevant local newspapers, which was 

not often the case. That recommendation holds good.  

In 2009 the committee’s report did not give full consideration to the issue of local 

government spend on their own newspapers, or to the more general spend of public bodies 

such as health boards, on public information. The majority of local authorities produce free 

sheets, and the spend on these newspapers can be considerable, varying from tens of 

thousands to over a million pounds per year. The proliferation of local authority newspapers 

and newsletters, may be a response to the decline of newspaper coverage of local 

government itself, but turning one’s back on the local newspaper is not the right response.  

The Welsh Government should encourage local authorities to transfer their present spend 

on council produced free newspapers to local newspapers, possibly in the form of editorial 

supplements. Whilst the level of spend varies widely, its impact could be significant for local 

newspapers.  

 

 

Page 43



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    44 

 

New models  

Dramatic forecasts of the demise of the newspaper industry in many countries may be 

overdone – newspaper groups still win nine-tenths of their revenues through the printed 

page, but it is hard to see where or when the decline will be arrested, not least given the 

prospect of high speed broadband, and the spread of smartphones and tablets. The search 

for new models is extensive, both by big business organisations, cooperative groups and 

voluntary teams, but few if any have succeeded in finding this holy grail.  

In time, governments may have to consider carefully whether or not some element of indirect 

subsidy to local journalism may be necessary. We have seen already the development by 

the Welsh Government of a community radio fund. It is also funding an online Welsh 

language newspaper, Golwg 360 - the money being distributed through the Welsh Books 

Council. There may come a moment when society will need a more systematic way of 

ensuring that local media continue to exist. That may have to be allied to the development of 

new ownership models – cooperatives, not-for-profit companies, community interest 

companies etc. That moment may not yet have come, but there is a case for beginning to 

think through these propositions now.   

 

 

Recommendations:  

35. That the Welsh Government should support a measured relaxation of cross-

ownership rules ownership, while ensuring a minimum level of plurality within 

localities.  

36. That the Welsh Government should encourage local authorities to desist from 

producing their own newspapers or newsletters and to seek partnership 

arrangements with their local newspapers to secure their communications 

objectives.  

 

 

  

 

   

Page 44



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    45 

 

SECTION B: INFLUENCE AND RESPONSIBILITY 
 

1 Creating effective influence  
 

The importance of the issues listed in this paper, the length of the agenda, and the rapidity 

of change confirm, beyond any doubt, that Wales must develop a permanent capacity for 

monitoring and influencing policy in this field. At present that capacity is limited and 

fragmented and less effective than it needs to be. The chain of events affecting S4C has 

also raised the whole question of the devolution of powers in the media field.  

 

On the face of it we are not short of bodies that enjoy some locus in the debate. The Welsh 

Government has established a Digital Wales Advisory Board and a Creative Industries 

Panel, both answerable to the Business Minister. Oversight of broadcasting and the media – 

a non-devolved area - are the responsibility of the Heritage Minister, but he also has larger 

devolved responsibilities for housing and regeneration within his brief. The Assembly does 

not have a committee devoted to the Heritage portfolio. It is the Communities, Equality and 

Local Government Committee that has established a task and finish group on media – a 

body which, by definition, has a limited lifespan.  

Over the years Ministers and committees have both made some valiant forays into the field, 

but both lack the human resource – either within the civil service, or the Assembly’s hard-

pressed 45-backbench members, to sustain continuous forensic analysis of a fast-moving 

scene, let alone to develop the necessary foresight to anticipate and shape developments.  

To gain some sense of the difficulty of keeping pace with events in this policy area, it is 

instructive to look at the volume of public consultations undertaken by the three key 

agencies – Ofcom, the BBC Trust and DCMS. Since the beginning of 2010  

! Ofcom has undertaken more than 140 separate public consultation exercises, of which at 

least a dozen were very relevant to Welsh interests  

! the BBC Trust has conducted 18 consultations, of which we would say that eight were 

relevant for Wales  

! the DCMS has conducted four consultations relevant to Wales  

At a conservative estimate, therefore, since the beginning of 2010, there have been 24 

public consultations in the media and telecoms fields to which Wales should have offered 

some response. The Welsh Government did respond to the most important of these – 

including the BBC’s 2010 Strategy Review and the BBC Nations Radio Review – but did not 

respond to the DCMS’s Local Media Action Plan. The Scottish Government responded to all 

three, in the last of which it set out how local television might become part of its proposed 

Scottish Digital Network.  

We understand that the Welsh Government does intend to respond to the consultation on 

the BBC’s Delivering Quality First document, and we would hope that the Task and Finish 

Group itself would wish to do so as well.   

Page 45



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    46 

 

Outside Government there are other advisory bodies and executive arrangements. Until 

recently Ofcom in Wales had a staff of eight, but this has now been reduced to five, a figure 

which includes a field engineer. Ofcom’s Wales Advisory Committee consist of six people, 

including the Welsh representatives on the Ofcom Content Board and the Welsh 

Communications Consumer Panel, the last of which is currently being reconstituted.  

S4C is an independent Authority of nine members, supervising a management board of six. 

The BBC in Wales has its seven-strong management board, with lines of accountability 

going, via the Director Wales, straight through to the BBC’s Broadcast Direction Group, one 

step down from the BBC Executive Board. Like Scotland and Northern Ireland, Wales is 

represented on the BBC Trust by a national trustee who also chairs a 10-person Audience 

Council for Wales. Until recently ITV Wales had an eight-person advisory council. This has 

now been disbanded.   

Ian Hargreaves, in his 2008 review of the creative industries in Wales22, said that ‘when 

devolved administrations have asserted themselves, they have got results, but he also 

pinpointed the weaknesses of low profile advisory systems. Similarly, in a lecture in 201023, 

Geraint Talfan Davies argued that these mechanisms were not always effective “because, in 

everything that matters, the arrangements are either private or cosmetic or both”.  Since 

those strictures were made it has to be said that the S4C Authority has achieved a much 

higher profile, but for the wrong reasons, while Ofcom’s Wales Advisory Committee has 

proved particularly active and robust in stating its views. This is in contrast to the BBC’s 

Audience Council for Wales which should be empowered to contribute to public debate as it 

arises, and not merely within the context of its formal annual review.  

However, none of these bodies is resourced in a way that allows them to conduct a detailed 

and systematic monitoring of media performance and policy in Wales. In 2008 the then 

Heritage Minister commissioned the IWA to carry out an audit of media provision in Wales. 24 

This complemented the annual Communications Market data produced by Ofcom, and 

which has a more technical and economic emphasis. The IWA audit was the first time that 

factual information about print and electronic media in Wales had been collected in one 

place, and was largely based on data up to 2006-07. There have been significant changes in 

funding and output since those data were gathered. Such an audit needs to be updated 

annually, if we are guarantee speedier responses.   

If Welsh policy interventions in the media field are to be properly informed there is a need to 

establish a permanent media monitoring capacity. This would best be done by an 

independent agency such as the IWA or a university department, rather than be absorbed 

within government. The data should be in the public domain, nourishing healthy debate.    

                                            

22
 Hargreaves, Ian, The Heart of digital Wales: a review of the creative industries. Welsh Assembly Government 

2010.  

23
 Davies, Geraint Talfan, Devolution and broadcasting. Lecture to the Honourable Society of the 

Cymmrodorion, 2010.  

24
 Davies, Geraint Talfan and Morris, Nick, Media in Wales: Serving Public Values. IWA 2008.  

Page 46



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    47 

 

2 Devolution and broadcasting  

Both Hargreaves and Talfan Davies took the view that the key weakness in establishing 

Welsh influence was the lack of any devolved responsibility in the broadcasting field. Ian 

Hargreaves argued that the level of public debate about S4C was not in line with its 

importance both culturally and economically and asked whether this was “a consequence of 

the fact that S4C is funded and largely regulated from London”. He thought that “the UK 

authorities involved (Ofcom and DCMS) lack the instinct and self-confidence to animate this 

uniquely Welsh debate and the Assembly lacks the formal mandate.”  

This analysis has been confirmed by recent events relating to S4C. The Culture Secretary, 

Jeremy Hunt, though not short of the confidence to effect radical change, pursued his 

chosen course by avoiding public debate, while the post facto entreaties of Welsh ministers 

and united party leaders were brushed aside as of little consequence.  

This has only sharpened the argument for the devolution of some responsibilities in this field.  

This would instantly raise this policy area up the list of priorities for Welsh ministers, and 

guarantee early consultation between London and Cardiff Bay on key decisions. It should 

also encourage the National Assembly to create a standing committee or sub-committee to 

address the issues. More importantly, it would be a way of bringing these issues more 

regularly and forcefully into the public domain by forcing Welsh Government ministers to 

make their views public, giving the Welsh public and civil society greater purchase.    

It is imperative that we seek to establish a cross-party consensus on this matter as soon as 

possible, as it will provide a necessary context for the development of policies to deal with 

individual issues.  

We believe that the foundation for such a consensus should be the proposition that UK-wide 

regulation will remain a primary force in media regulation for the foreseeable future, but that 

detailed provision needs to be made for the sharing of responsibilities between Westminster 

and the devolved administrations.   

In his Cymmrodorion lecture25 Geraint Talfan Davies described the way in which 

responsibilities are already shared between different tiers:  

“Since 1989 we have been subject to a European Broadcasting Directive, 

Television without frontiers, which sets the legal framework within which 

television broadcasting in the EU operates. Apart from economic regulation it 

provides minimum harmonisation on the protection of minors and public order, 

consumer protection, definition of independent producers and the regulation of 

tele-shopping. This was amended in the 1997 Treaty of Amsterdam to take 

account of the emerging new technologies, at which time it stated, to my mind 

significantly, that the EU had to have regard to the cultural aspects of all 

policies, and to the need to protect lesser used languages. This legislation 

was further updated in the 2007 Audiovisual Media Services Directive, 

                                            

25
 Ibid. 

Page 47



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    48 

 

legislation decided on for the first time by co-decision with the European 

Parliament.   

“In the UK it is true that all formal responsibility resides at Westminster, but the 

devolved administrations have managed to intrude at various points. The 

Scottish Government funds the Gaelic Media Service, which allows it to be the 

main funder of the BBC Alba channel, contributing nearly £10m to the 

channel’s total budget of around £14m.   

“The Welsh Government’s Heritage Department supports a Community Radio 

Fund, dispensed directly, as well as a Welsh language online news franchise, 

awarded bizarrely by the Welsh Books Council. The BBC National Orchestra 

of Wales is the only BBC orchestra to be funded by an arts council – the 

Welsh Government funded Arts Council of Wales. Our Arts Council also funds 

the Film Agency for Wales, but with the lottery monies that it receives from the 

DCMS - funding films that often have a broadcast investment attached. In 

addition, the Welsh Government’s Economic Development Department has 

provided substantial funding for the extension and promotion of the broadband 

network in Wales.  

“In Northern Ireland the 1998 Good Friday Agreement included a commitment 

– and I quote - “to encourage and provide financial support for Irish language 

film and television production in Northern Ireland without adversely affecting 

English language broadcast provision”. [My italics] As a result the Northern 

Ireland Government has established an Irish Language Broadcast Fund, that 

part-funds Irish language programming on BBC services as well as working in 

collaboration with the RTE and TG4 in the south.  

“In parallel with these indigenous funding mechanisms, an informal 

accountability to the devolved administrations has grown up, largely through 

the work of their committees, before which assorted broadcasting 

panjandrums appear and are questioned from time to time, although a good 

deal more harshly in Scotland than in Wales. The DCMS and the Welsh 

Government also have a concordat to govern their relationship, although this 

is said by officials to be ‘a backstop rather than a bible’.” 

Given all these developments we can see no issue of principle that should prevent new 

arrangements being devised that would both improve the accountability of media institutions 

operating within Wales and give Welsh Government the means of effective influence. The 

spirit of such change should also extend to the devolution of responsibilities within 

organisation such as Ofcom and the BBC. Primary candidates for devolved responsibilities 

include S4C and commercial and community radio licensing.   

The creation of specific BBC National Services Licences for Scotland, Wales and Northern 

Ireland – for which there will be a precedent in the arrangements agreed for the partnership 

between the BBC and S4C – should entail increased local decision making within the BBC, 

possibly through evolving the Audience Councils into BBC Trust bodies for each nation, 

administering block grants from the BBC Trust.  In this way a better balanced BBC could be 

Page 48



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    49 

 

created in which a sensible degree of autonomy within the devolved nations could be 

established without any loss of the BBC’s strengths at a UK level.  

This is a complex area, where there will be different views on where dividing lines should be 

drawn. We propose, therefore, that a working group of experts should be established 

immediately to work up detailed proposals so that they can be considered by the Silk 

Commission, by the drafters of a new Communications Bill and those reviewing the BBC 

Royal Charter.  

This work, together with the project proposed in the first section of this paper - to determine 

our future broadcast needs in terms of our democracy, culture and economy – should be 

done in close liaison with the Creative Industries Panel, so that all aspects can be brought 

together in a holistic view of the Welsh media environment.  

 

 

Recommendations:  

37. That a permanent and independent media monitoring capacity be established to 

monitor developments in media policy, performance and delivery, in order inform 

government and elected representatives and to nourish public debate.   

38. That the Welsh Government should strengthen the Heritage Department’s capacity 

to provide timely and expert advice to Ministers on media policy.  

39. That much stronger joint working arrangements between the Heritage and 

business departments should be put in place in order to secure the maximum 

economic benefit from media policy.   

40. That the Welsh Government should establish a working group to examine options 

for the devolution or the sharing of powers (between Cardiff and Westminster) in 

the media field within a continuing UK framework. This should include options for 

the devolution of some responsibilities within the BBC and Ofcom.   

41. That the Welsh Government should take steps to establish a cross-party 

consensus in Wales on proposals that may emerge from the work group.  

 

 

Page 49



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    50 

 

Appendix 1  

Sources  

IWA Sources    

Address by Huw Jones, Chairman, S4C. IWA Broadcasting Conference, October 2011. See 

http://www.clickonwales.org/category/lecture-library 

Address by Rhodri Talfan Davies, Director, BBC Wales. IWA Broadcasting Conference, October 
2011. See http://www.clickonwales.org/category/lecture-library 

A new agenda for broadcasting in Wales, Address by Ron Jones, Executive Chairman, Tinopolis. IWA 
Broadcasting Conference, October 2011. See http://www.clickonwales.org/category/lecture-library 

ITV beyond 2014 – a public service broadcaster? Address by Guy Phillips, Editor, ITV Regional 
News. IWA Broadcasting Conference, October 2011.  
See http://www.clickonwales.org/category/lecture-library 
 
The online challenge for Wales. Address by Wil Stephens, Chief Executive, CubeInteractive. IWA 
Broadcasting Conference, October 2011. See http://www.clickonwales.org/category/lecture-library 
 

A view from the frontier of broadcasting, Menna Richards, Wales Political Archive Lecture 2011. See 

http://www.clickonwales.org/category/lecture-library/ 

Davies, Geraint Talfan, Devolution and broadcasting. Lecture to the Honourable Society of the 

Cymmrodorion, 2010. See http://www.clickonwales.org/category/lecture-library 

Correspondence between four former Controllers of BBC Wales and BBC Trust Chairman, August-

September 2010. See http://www.clickonwales.org/2010/09/bbc-trust-struggles-with-welsh-complexity/ 

IWA evidence to Welsh Affairs Committee inquiry into S4C. September 2010. See 

http://www.iwa.org.uk/en/projects/view/7 

Davies, Geraint Talfan (Editor),English is a Welsh Language: Television’s crisis in Wales. IWA 2009. 

See http://www.iwa.org.uk/en/publications/view/160 

Davies, Geraint Talfan and Morris, Nick, Media in Wales: Serving Public Values. IWA 2008. See 

http://www.iwa.org.uk/en/publications/view/152 

Welsh Government sources  

Hargreaves, Ian, The Heart of digital Wales: a review of the creative industries. Welsh Assembly 

Government 2010. See http://wales.gov.uk/docs/det/publications/100324creativeindustriesrpten.pdf 

Communication and Content: The media challenge for Wales, Report of the Broadcasting Advisory 

Group to the Welsh Assembly Government, November 2008. See 

http://wales.gov.uk/docs/drah/publications/20090730communicationandcontent.pdf 

Welsh Assembly Government response to Ofcom’s 2
nd

 public service broadcasting review: Phase 2, 

Preparing for the Digital Future. 

http://wales.gov.uk/about/cabinet/cabinetstatements/2008/ofcom/?lang=en 

Welsh Government response to DCMS Communications Review. July 2011 See 

http://wales.gov.uk/docs/drah/publications/20110729wgresponsetoopenletteren.pdf 

Page 50



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    51 

 

Welsh Government response to the BBC Trust review of Nations Radio. See 

http://new.wales.gov.uk/topics/cultureandsport/mediapublishing/publications/ 

Welsh Assembly Government response to BBC Strategy Review. May 2010 See 

http://new.wales.gov.uk/topics/cultureandsport/mediapublishing/publications/strategyresponse/ 

Welsh Affairs Committee 

Report on S4C, Welsh Affaitrs Committee, November 2010. See 

http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201012/cmselect/cmwelaf/614/61402.htm 

DCMS sources 

A new framework for local TV in the UK. DCMS. July 2011. See 

http://www.culture.gov.uk/images/consultations/Local-TV-Framework_July2011.pdf 

Ofcom sources  

Communications Market Report Wales, Ofcom. 2011. See 

http://stakeholders.ofcom.org.uk/binaries/research/cmr/cmr11/CMR_2011_Wales.pdf 

BBC Sources 

BBC-S4C Governance Agreement. 25 October 2011. See 

http://www.bbc.co.uk/bbctrust/assets/files/pdf/our_work/s4c_governance/s4c_governance.pdf 

Delivering Quality First, BBC Trust October 2011. See 

http://www.bbc.co.uk/aboutthebbc/dqf/pdf/dqf_detailedproposals.pdf 

BBC Strategy Review, BBC Trust March 2010. See 

http://downloads.bbc.co.uk/aboutthebbc/reports/pdf/strategy_review.pdf 

BBC Audience Council for Wales, Annual Review 2011. See 

http://www.bbc.co.uk/wales/audiencecouncil/sites/annual-review/documents/review_acw_2011.pdf 

BBC Annual Report 2010-11. See http://www.bbc.co.uk/annualreport/ 

BBC Radio Wales service licence. April 2011. See 

http://www.bbc.co.uk/bbctrust/assets/files/pdf/regulatory_framework/service_licences/radio/2011/radio

_wales_apr11.pdf 

BBC Radio Cymru service licence. April 2011. See 

http://www.bbc.co.uk/bbctrust/assets/files/pdf/regulatory_framework/service_licences/radio/2011/radio

_cymru_apr11.pdf 

BBC Radio Scotland service licence. April 2011. See 

http://www.bbc.co.uk/bbctrust/assets/files/pdf/regulatory_framework/service_licences/radio/2011/radio

_scotland_apr11.pdf 

BBC Radio nan Gaidheal service licence. April 2011. See 

http://www.bbc.co.uk/bbctrust/assets/files/pdf/regulatory_framework/service_licences/radio/2011/radio

_nan_gaidheal_apr11.pdf 

BBC Radio Ulster/Foyle service licence> April 2011. See 

http://www.bbc.co.uk/bbctrust/assets/files/pdf/regulatory_framework/service_licences/radio/2011/radio

_ulster_foyle_apr11.pdf 

Page 51



IWA Wales Media Policy Group    52 

 

Local TV:Impact assessment. DCMS July 2011. See 

http://www.culture.gov.uk/images/consultations/Impact-Assessment_Local-TV__July2011.pdf 

Local TV: Pioneer locations. DCMS July 2011. See 

http://www.culture.gov.uk/images/consultations/Local-TV-Locations-August-2011.pdf 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 52



Statement for the National Assembly for Wales' Communities, Equality and 

Local Government Committee inquiry into the future for media in Wales

by Beverly Thomas, managing editor of Cambrian News Ltd (Wales' biggest-selling weekly 

newspaper), who will be representing Tindle Newspapers Ltd at the hearing on 1 December 20110

In this statement, the intention is to give a brief history of the Tindle Newspaper Group and its 

standing in Wales; along with our views on the threats currently facing the Welsh media, on the 

future for local newspapers in Wales and  on how local newspapers like ours could be helped to 

flourish and grow and continue to serve their communities well. Also attached is a breakdown of 

Tindle newspaper coverage in Wales, with details of each centre.

The Tindle Group:

The Tindle Newspaper Group has more than 200 weekly, fortnightly and monthly newspapers –

including a new paid-for weekly title launched just this week.

Its newspapers in Wales have a total circulation of nearly 105,000, and around 216,000 readers, 

covering a large proportion of the country. Tindle employs more than 200 staff in Wales and also 

provides freelance employment for hundreds of others.

Tindle has six centres in Wales, producing the following Welsh titles: Abergavenny Chronicle, 

Brecon and Radnor Express, Cambrian News, County Echo, Glamorgan Gem Series, 

Monmouthshire Beacon, Tenby Observer, Y Cymro and Y Dydd.

The company also has a further three centres just over the border which produce the Ross Gazette,  

The Forester and the Forest of Dean Review, papers which also circulate in Wales.

Tindle's involvement with Wales began 33 years ago, when Sir Ray Tindle, the founder and sole 

shareholder, rescued the Tenby Observer after it went into administration. He rallied the staff and 

insisted that every word in the paper should be about Tenby or have a direct bearing on the 

inhabitants. His prompt action saved the paper and, within a short time, the staff brought the 

newspaper back into profit and circulation returned. In 2003 the Prince of Wales visited Tenby to 

lead the celebrations for the newspaper's 150
th

anniversary and it still flourishes today.

The success story led other newspaper proprieters in Wales to approach Sir Ray and he continued to 

acquire Welsh titles over the last three decades, giving the Welsh general managers a lot of 

autonomy over their businesses and ploughing profits back, with further acquisitions, launches and 

facilities.

Most recent - in 2005 - is Sir Ray's acquisition of two Welsh language publications –Y Cymro, 

Wales' only Welsh language weekly newspaper; and Y Dydd, a monthly publication in 

Meirionnydd.

Sir Ray's philosophy is that his papers should be local community newspapers with plenty of local 

names, faces and places.

That same philosophy has seen Tindle Newspapers grow not only in Wales but also across the south 

of England. Each general manager is given responsibility for driving his or her business forward  to 

the benefit of the local community and the Tindle group.

Media(4)-04-11 : Paper 2 Agenda Item 2c

Page 53



 

The current situation: 

 

The Tindle Group believes that truly local weekly newspapers are the key to a vibrant and 

successful future for the printed media in Wales. There is evidence to show that it is the truly local, 

community-orientated newspapers which are riding the current recession better than other 

categories of newspapers. Their market is local, loyalty amongst readers is strong, and they do not 

have such a heavy reliance on the national, recruitment and property advertising, the huge reduction 

in which is hitting larger and more national publications hard. 

 

Despite the recession, Tindle Newspapers has continued acquiring publications, and has also 

launched new publications in core areas. Just this week, Sir Ray has launched a new paid-for 

weekly for Wales, the Chepstow Review, which will circulate in Chepstow and Caldicot, with a 

cover price of 40p. He also, over the summer launched the Pembroke Dock Observer, which is 

under the management of the Tenby Observer team in Pembrokeshire. There are also plans for new 

launches in other centres in Wales in the near future. This is part of Sir Ray's commitment to the 

communities his company serves and a strengthening of the Tindle stable. 

 

We have been hit by the economic downturn like any other group but most of our local community 

papers around the country are performing better than the average and providing the profits to keep 

the others going.  

 

Our publications are holding their own circulation-wise – not seeing the huge drops some papers 

have recorded. Indeed, it has been during the recession that one of Tindle's papers, the Cambrian 

News, has risen up the rankings to become Wales' biggest-selling weekly newspaper. 

 

Sir Ray's commitment to not make any redundancies (including in editorial departments) makes him 

stand out from other companies which have been pushing through serious reductions in staff. While 

there has been some natural wastage, our staffing numbers remain buoyant and quality has not been 

compromised. 

 

The two Welsh language publications are an important part of our Welsh stable of newspapers, but it 

is a difficult market, with little funding and reductions in advertising revenue, because of a previous 

reliance on the public sector. That is one area which should benefit from a change in 

funding/assistance strategies to secure the future and enable growth. 

 

The Tindle Group do not believe that local community newspapers are under threat from the 

internet. Certainly it has not been our experience in Wales. Tindle newspapers are using their own 

websites to enhance their publications and encourage readers and advertisers to move between the 

two.  

 

In Wales, our strategy has been to make sure that our websites do not steal the thunder of our 

weekly newspapers. So tasters of stories are included, but readers must go to the papers to get the 

full story. Also, our paid-for e-editions have been a success, especially in mid and north Wales and 

with our Welsh language weekly – enabling readers to access the titles wherever they are in the 

world (but not for free). 

 

Of course, the print media has to evolve, to continue to embrace the digital age – but with careful 

management and balance, newspapers have an increasing role to play, especially in Wales, where a 

sense of community and belonging is perhaps more in evidence than in other more industrialised 

areas. 

 

Page 54



 

 

 

The future: 

 

 

Welsh newspapers would welcome more structured support from the government and public bodies. 

 

What must be borne in mind are the particular difficulties that papers in rural Welsh areas face, with 

the problems of the transport network and the huge distribution and operational costs. 

 

In particular, we would like to see less dominance of the regional dailies in the public notices 

market. A commitment by public bodies to giving more public notice business to weekly papers 

spread across Wales could lead to a link-up between independent publishers, giving advertisers 

greater penetration. 

 

Local authorities need tighter regulation over their own publications, which carry censored news 

and threaten the viability of commercial newspapers. Local newspapers are vital in Wales to give 

local communities a voice and to hold public bodies to account. In the main, websites and national 

papers do not get down to a local enough level to do this. What councils spend on their own 

publications could be ploughed into advertising features and supplements in their local papers to the 

benefit of both. 

 

Imperitive is a change in the way Welsh language media is supported to ensure the survival of the 

few Welsh-language publications which remain. Plurality is vital but these are challenging times for 

Welsh publications like Y Cymro. More government subsidies and grant-aid, and more advertising 

support from public bodies would be welcomed. Also, what about examining a link-up between the 

media and training bodies to offer apprenticeships/work experience, which could lead to a reduction 

in heavy newspaper staffing costs? 

 

 

 

Beverly Thomas 

Managing Editor, Cambrian News Ltd. 

Tindle Newspapers Ltd 

 

 

10 November 2011 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



S
ou

rc
e:

 J
ic

re
g 

da
ta

 a
t 1

st
 A

pr
il 

20
11

 

P
er

ce
n

ta
g

e 
re

ac
h

 o
f 

av
er

ag
e 

is
su

e 
re

ad
er

sh
ip

 

Lo
ca

tio
n 

P
op

ul
at

io
n 

H
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

A
du

lt 
A

IR
 

A
IR

 %
 C

irc
ul

at
io

n 
H

'h
ol

d 
%

 

C
in

de
rf

or
d 

22
68

1 
11

56
4 

22
3 

0.
98

 
74

 
0.

64
%

 

H
er

ef
or

d 
R

ur
al

 
38

45
0 

19
96

1 
39

7 
1.

03
 

14
1 

0.
71

%
 

M
on

m
ou

th
 

14
85

5 
76

23
 

19
4 

1.
3 

68
 

0.
89

%
 

N
ew

en
t 

98
38

 
48

67
 

52
 

0.
53

 
19

 
0.

39
%

 

R
os

s 
O

n 
W

ye
 

17
21

5 
93

15
 

11
83

7 
68

.7
6 

44
12

 
47

.3
6%

 

•
P

ai
d-

fo
r 

w
ee

kl
y 

ta
bl

oi
d 

ne
w

sp
ap

er
. 

 

•
P

ub
lis

he
d 

W
ed

ne
sd

ay
. 

 

•
C

irc
ul

at
io

n:
 4

,7
14

 A
pr

il 
20

09
 to

 M
ar

ch
 2

01
0.

 

 

•
To

ta
l A

.I.
R

.; 
12

,7
03

 

 

•
R

ea
de

rs
hi

p 
so

ci
al

 g
ra

de
 p

ro
fil

e:
 

   
  5

8.
20

%
 A

B
C

1,
 4

1.
80

%
 C

2D
&

E
. 

 

•
P

ro
vi

di
ng

 th
e 

hi
gh

es
t r

ea
ch

 o
f R

os
s 

O
n 

W
ye

 b
y 

so
m

e 
w

ay
! 

R
os

s-
on

-W
ye

 is
 a

n 
hi

st
or

ic
 m

ar
ke

t t
ow

n 
de

sc
rib

ed
 a

s 
“t

he
 je

w
el

 in
 th

e 
cr

ow
n 

of
 

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
”.

 It
 h

as
 e

as
y 

ac
ce

ss
 to

 th
e 

M
id

la
nd

s 
an

d 
S

ou
th

 W
al

es
. A

 th
riv

in
g 

fo
rw

ar
d-

th
in

ki
ng

 to
w

n 
ne

ed
s 

a 
lo

ca
l n

ew
sp

ap
er

 s
uc

h 
as

 T
he

 R
os

s 
G

az
et

te
 to

 r
ef

le
ct

 

th
e 

lif
e 

w
ith

in
 it

. T
he

 R
os

s 
G

az
et

te
 h

as
 a

lw
ay

s 
be

en
 a

t t
he

 h
ea

rt
 o

f t
he

 lo
ca

l c
om

m
un

ity
 

su
pp

or
te

d 
by

 lo
ca

l f
am

ili
es

 fo
r 

ge
ne

ra
tio

ns
, i

t a
pp

ea
ls

 to
 a

ll 
ag

e 
gr

ou
ps

. I
n 

its
 r

ol
e 

as
 

th
e 

To
w

n’
s 

w
ee

kl
y 

ne
w

sp
ap

er
, i

t h
as

 s
er

ve
d 

th
e 

ar
ea

 a
ro

un
d 

R
os

s-
on

-W
ye

 fo
r 

al
m

os
t 

15
0 

ye
ar

s.
 

•
C

on
te

nt
 w

eb
si

te
 u

pd
at

ed
 d

ai
ly

. 

 

•
A

ve
ra

ge
 w

ee
kl

y 
pa

ge
 v

ie
w

s:
 1

,6
43

. 

 

•
A

ve
ra

ge
 w

ee
kl

y 
un

iq
ue

 v
is

ito
rs

: 4
14

 

 
S

ou
rc

e:
 G

oo
gl

e 
A

na
ly

tic
s 

M
ay

 2
01

1.
 

F
or

 fu
rt

he
r 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

te
le

ph
on

e:
 0

19
89

 5
62

00
7 

Page 58



Lo
ca

tio
n 

P
op

ul
at

io
n 

H
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

A
du

lt 
A

IR
 

A
IR

 %
 

C
irc

ul
at

io
n 

H
'h

ol
d 

%
 

C
he

ps
to

w
 

19
60

8 
10

07
7 

10
76

 
5.

49
 

28
5 

2.
83

%
 

C
in

de
rf

or
d 

22
68

1 
11

56
4 

14
17

1 
62

.4
8 

36
29

 
31

.3
8%

 

C
ol

ef
or

d 
11

41
9 

59
38

 
73

76
 

64
.6

 
18

98
 

31
.9

6%
 

G
lo

uc
es

te
r 

12
62

14
 

66
72

3 
16

48
 

1.
31

 
41

7 
0.

62
%

 

Le
db

ur
y 

13
02

6 
69

30
 

62
 

0.
47

 
17

 
0.

25
%

 

Ly
dn

ey
 

17
70

3 
91

28
 

90
38

 
51

.0
5 

23
21

 
25

.4
3%

 

M
on

m
ou

th
 

14
85

5 
76

23
 

61
5 

4.
14

 
16

2 
2.

13
%

 

N
ew

en
t 

98
38

 
48

67
 

24
53

 
24

.9
3 

66
7 

13
.7

0%
 

R
os

s 
O

n 
W

ye
 

17
21

5 
93

15
 

14
91

 
8.

66
 

39
5 

4.
24

%
 

*S
ou

rc
e:

 J
ic

re
g 

da
ta

 a
t 1

st
 A

pr
il 

20
11

 

P
er

ce
n

ta
g

e 
re

ac
h

 o
f 

av
er

ag
e 

is
su

e 
re

ad
er

sh
ip

 
•

P
ai

d-
fo

r 
w

ee
kl

y 
ta

bl
oi

d 
ne

w
sp

ap
er

. 

 

•
P

ub
lis

he
d 

T
hu

rs
da

y.
 

 

•
C

irc
ul

at
io

n:
 9

,7
91

 J
an

 2
01

0 
to

 J
un

e 
20

10
. 

 

•
To

ta
l A

.I.
R

.; 
37

,9
29

 

 

•
R

ea
de

rs
hi

p 
so

ci
al

 g
ra

de
 p

ro
fil

e:
 

   
  4

9.
41

%
 A

B
C

1,
 5

0.
59

%
 C

2D
&

E
. 

 

•
P

ro
vi

di
ng

 th
e 

hi
gh

es
t p

ai
d-

fo
r 

re
ad

er
sh

ip
 a

cr
os

s 

th
e 

F
or

es
t o

f D
ea

n.
 

D
ed

ic
at

ed
 to

 s
er

vi
ng

 th
e 

lo
ca

l c
om

m
un

iti
es

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
F

or
es

t o
f D

ea
n,

 T
he

 F
or

es
te

r 
is

 a
 

su
cc

es
sf

ul
 p

ai
d-

fo
r 

w
ee

kl
y 

ne
w

sp
ap

er
 p

ub
lis

he
d 

ev
er

y 
T

hu
rs

da
y.

 It
s 

br
oa

d 
ra

ng
e 

of
 

ne
w

s 
w

ith
 ta

rg
et

ed
 e

di
to

ria
l e

di
tio

ns
 a

nd
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
en

su
re

s 
it 

ca
te

rs
 fo

r 
al

l n
ee

ds
. 

T
he

 F
or

es
te

r 
w

hi
ch

 b
en

ef
its

 fr
om

 *
33

%
 r

ea
ch

 w
ith

in
 it

s 
m

ar
ke

tin
g 

ar
ea

 jo
in

s 
a 

po
rt

fo
lio

 

of
 T

in
dl

e 
ne

w
sp

ap
er

s 
w

ith
 h

ig
h 

co
ve

ra
ge

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
ru

ra
l m

ar
ke

t t
ow

ns
 p

os
iti

on
ed

 

be
tw

ee
n 

th
e 

co
m

m
er

ci
al

 c
en

tr
es

 o
f G

lo
uc

es
te

r, 
H

er
ef

or
d,

 N
ew

po
rt

 a
nd

 B
ris

to
l. 

•
C

on
te

nt
 w

eb
si

te
 u

pd
at

ed
 d

ai
ly

. 

 

•
A

ve
ra

ge
 w

ee
kl

y 
pa

ge
 v

ie
w

s:
 5

01
3.

 

 

•
A

ve
ra

ge
 w

ee
kl

y 
un

iq
ue

 v
is

ito
rs

: 9
93

 

 
S

ou
rc

e:
 G

oo
gl

e 
A

na
ly

tic
s 

M
ay

 2
01

1.
 

F
or

 fu
rt

he
r 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

te
le

ph
on

e:
 0

15
94

 8
20

60
0 

 

Page 59



Lo
ca

tio
n 

P
op

ul
at

io
n 

H
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

A
du

lt 
A

IR
 

A
IR

 %
 C

irc
ul

at
io

n 
H

'h
ol

d 
%

 

C
al

di
co

t 
11

18
6 

56
43

 
62

82
 

56
.1

6 
41

94
 

74
.3

2%
 

C
he

ps
to

w
 

19
60

8 
10

07
7 

85
85

 
43

.7
8 

58
62

 
58

.1
7%

 

C
in

de
rf

or
d 

22
68

1 
11

56
4 

16
05

7 
70

.8
 

10
80

3 
93

.4
2%

 

C
ol

ef
or

d 
11

41
9 

59
38

 
80

93
 

70
.8

7 
55

58
 

93
.6

0%
 

G
lo

uc
es

te
r 

12
62

14
 

66
72

3 
95

 
0.

08
 

61
 

0.
09

%
 

Ly
dn

ey
 

17
70

3 
91

28
 

12
86

1 
72

.6
5 

87
49

 
95

.8
5%

 

M
on

m
ou

th
 

14
85

5 
76

23
 

53
93

 
36

.3
1 

35
80

 
46

.9
6%

 

N
ew

en
t 

98
38

 
48

67
 

12
56

 
12

.7
7 

79
4 

16
.3

1%
 

R
os

s 
O

n 
W

ye
 

17
21

5 
93

15
 

62
22

 
36

.1
4 

44
93

 
48

.2
3%

 

S
ou

rc
e:

 J
ic

re
g 

da
ta

 a
t 1

st
 A

pr
il 

20
11

 

P
er

ce
n

ta
g

e 
re

ac
h

 o
f 

av
er

ag
e 

is
su

e 
re

ad
er

sh
ip

 
•

F
re

e 
w

ee
kl

y 
ta

bl
oi

d 
ne

w
sp

ap
er

. 

 

•
P

ub
lis

he
d 

W
ed

ne
sd

ay
. 

 

•
C

irc
ul

at
io

n:
 4

4,
52

7 
Ja

n 
to

 D
ec

 2
01

0.
 

 

•
To

ta
l A

.I.
R

.; 
64

,8
44

 

 

•
R

ea
de

rs
hi

p 
so

ci
al

 g
ra

de
 p

ro
fil

e:
 

   
  5

3.
96

%
 A

B
C

1,
 4

6.
04

%
 C

2D
&

E
. 

 

•
P

ro
vi

di
ng

 th
e 

hi
gh

es
t r

ea
ch

 o
f C

al
di

co
t, 

C
he

ps
to

w
, C

in
de

rf
or

d,
 C

ol
ef

or
d 

an
d 

Ly
dn

ey
. 

La
un

ch
ed

 in
 1

98
2 

in
 a

n 
ar

ea
 s

ai
d 

to
 b

e 
su

sp
ic

io
us

 o
f c

ha
ng

e,
 th

e 
F

or
es

t o
f D

ea
n 

an
d 

W
ye

 V
al

le
y 

R
ev

ie
w

 q
ui

ck
ly

 b
ec

am
e 

ac
ce

pt
ed

 a
s 

a 
ne

w
 a

nd
 fr

es
h 

vo
ic

e 
fo

r 
th

e 
ar

ea
. I

ts
 

op
en

 p
la

tfo
rm

 a
nd

 e
nc

ou
ra

ge
m

en
t t

o 
re

ad
er

s 
to

 h
av

e 
a 

sa
y 

ha
s 

al
w

ay
s 

pr
ov

ed
 

po
pu

la
r:

 fr
om

 fa
r 

Le
ft 

to
 fa

r 
R

ig
ht

, d
ev

ou
t C

hr
is

tia
n 

to
 c

on
vi

nc
ed

 a
th

ei
st

, a
ll 

vi
ew

s 
ha

ve
 

be
en

 a
ire

d 
in

 it
s 

pa
ge

s,
 a

nd
 th

is
 w

ill
 c

on
tin

ue
. N

ow
 o

w
ne

d 
by

 th
e 

T
in

dl
e 

G
ro

up
 th

e 

su
cc

es
s 

co
nt

in
ue

s.
 T

he
 w

ee
kl

y 
ci

rc
ul

at
io

n 
is

 n
ow

 a
ud

ite
d 

at
 m

or
e 

th
an

 4
3,

00
0,

 m
ak

in
g 

it 
on

e 
of

 th
e 

bi
gg

es
t w

ee
kl

y 
ne

w
sp

ap
er

s 
in

 th
e 

W
es

t o
f E

ng
la

nd
 a

nd
 S

ou
th

 W
al

es
. 

 

•
C

on
te

nt
 w

eb
si

te
 u

pd
at

ed
 d

ai
ly

. 

 

•
A

ve
ra

ge
 w

ee
kl

y 
pa

ge
 v

ie
w

s:
 3

,9
39

. 

 

•
A

ve
ra

ge
 w

ee
kl

y 
un

iq
ue

 v
is

ito
rs

: 1
,3

15
 

 
S

ou
rc

e:
 G

oo
gl

e 
A

na
ly

tic
s 

M
ay

 2
01

1.
 

F
or

 fu
rt

he
r 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

te
le

ph
on

e:
 0

15
94

 8
41

11
3 

Page 60



S
ou

rc
e:

 J
ic

re
g 

da
ta

 a
t 1

st
 A

pr
il 

20
11

 

P
er

ce
n

ta
g

e 
re

ac
h

 o
f 

av
er

ag
e 

is
su

e 
re

ad
er

sh
ip

 
•

P
ai

d-
fo

r 
w

ee
kl

y 
ta

bl
oi

d 
ne

w
sp

ap
er

. 

 

•
P

ub
lis

he
d 

W
ed

ne
sd

ay
. 

 

•
C

irc
ul

at
io

n:
 4

,9
26

 A
pr

il 
20

09
 to

 M
ar

ch
 2

01
0.

 

 

•
To

ta
l A

.I.
R

.; 
13

,9
16

 

 

•
R

ea
de

rs
hi

p 
so

ci
al

 g
ra

de
 p

ro
fil

e:
 

   
  6

3.
20

%
 A

B
C

1,
 3

6.
80

%
 C

2D
&

E
. 

 

•
P

ro
vi

di
ng

 th
e 

hi
gh

es
t r

ea
ch

 o
f M

on
m

ou
th

 b
y 

so
m

e 
w

ay
! 

T
he

 fi
rs

t B
ea

co
n 

w
as

 p
ub

lis
he

d 
on

 O
ct

ob
er

 1
4t

h 
18

37
; t

he
 B

ea
co

n 
no

w
 p

la
ys

 a
 p

iv
ot

al
 

ro
le

 in
 th

e 
lo

ca
l c

om
m

un
ity

, p
rin

tin
g 

ea
ch

 w
ee

k 
nu

m
er

ou
s 

ex
cl

us
iv

e 
co

lu
m

ns
 fr

om
 a

ll 

se
ct

or
s 

of
 th

e 
co

m
m

un
ity

. T
he

se
 in

cl
ud

e 
co

lu
m

ns
 fr

om
 M

em
be

rs
 o

f p
ar

lia
m

en
t, 

th
e 

A
ss

em
bl

y 
m

em
be

r, 
th

e 
C

ha
m

be
r 

of
 C

om
m

er
ce

, t
he

 C
iti

ze
ns

 A
dv

ic
e 

B
ur

ea
u,

 th
e 

C
ou

nt
y 

C
ou

nc
ilo

r, 
C

ou
nt

y 
tr

ad
in

g 
st

an
da

rd
s 

of
fic

er
, C

hr
is

tia
n 

co
m

m
en

t a
nd

 o
th

er
s.

 O
ur

 

ev
er

 in
cr

ea
si

ng
 p

ag
es

 o
f l

et
te

rs
 a

nd
 s

po
rt

s 
re

po
rt

s 
an

d 
pi

ct
ur

es
 fu

lly
 d

em
on

st
ra

te
 th

e 

B
ea

co
n'

s 
ro

le
 a

s 
th

e 
ne

w
sp

ap
er

 a
t t

he
 h

ea
rt

 o
f t

he
 lo

ca
l c

om
m

un
ity

. 

•
C

on
te

nt
 w

eb
si

te
 u

pd
at

ed
 d

ai
ly

. 

 

•
A

ve
ra

ge
 w

ee
kl

y 
pa

ge
 v

ie
w

s:
 2

,9
48

. 

 

•
A

ve
ra

ge
 w

ee
kl

y 
un

iq
ue

 v
is

ito
rs

: 9
06

 

 
S

ou
rc

e:
 G

oo
gl

e 
A

na
ly

tic
s 

M
ay

 2
01

1.
 

F
or

 fu
rt

he
r 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

te
le

ph
on

e:
 0

16
00

 7
12

14
2 

Lo
ca

tio
n 

P
op

ul
at

io
n 

H
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

A
du

lt 
A

IR
 

A
IR

 %
 C

irc
ul

at
io

n 
H

'h
ol

d 
%

 

C
he

ps
to

w
 

19
60

8 
10

07
7 

48
9 

2.
49

 
17

1 
1.

70
%

 

C
ol

ef
or

d 
11

41
9 

59
38

 
39

7 
3.

48
 

14
3 

2.
41

%
 

H
er

ef
or

d 
R

ur
al

 
38

45
0 

19
96

1 
24

6 
0.

64
 

86
 

0.
43

%
 

Ly
dn

ey
 

17
70

3 
91

28
 

50
 

0.
28

 
18

 
0.

20
%

 

M
on

m
ou

th
 

14
85

5 
76

23
 

12
46

2 
83

.8
9 

44
11

 
57

.8
6%

 

R
os

s 
O

n 
W

ye
 

17
21

5 
93

15
 

27
2 

1.
58

 
97

 
1.

04
%

 

Page 61



S
ou

rc
e:

 J
ic

re
g 

da
ta

 a
t 1

st
 A

pr
il 

20
11

 

P
er

ce
n

ta
g

e 
re

ac
h

 o
f 

av
er

ag
e 

is
su

e 
re

ad
er

sh
ip

 
•

P
ai

d-
fo

r 
w

ee
kl

y 
br

oa
ds

he
et

 n
ew

sp
ap

er
. 

 

•
P

ub
lis

he
d 

T
hu

rs
da

y.
 

 

•
C

irc
ul

at
io

n:
 7

,0
46

 A
pr

il 
20

09
 to

 M
ar

ch
 2

01
0.

 

 

•
To

ta
l A

.I.
R

.; 
18

,9
95

 

 

•
R

ea
de

rs
hi

p 
so

ci
al

 g
ra

de
 p

ro
fil

e:
 

   
  6

0.
17

%
 A

B
C

1,
 3

9.
83

%
 C

2D
&

E
. 

 

•
P

ro
vi

di
ng

 th
e 

hi
gh

es
t r

ea
ch

 o
f A

be
rg

av
en

ny
 &

 

U
sk

. 

T
he

 A
be

rg
av

en
ny

 C
hr

on
ic

le
 w

as
 fo

un
de

d 
in

 1
87

1,
 to

da
y 

th
e 

C
hr

on
ic

le
 is

 o
ne

 o
f o

nl
y 

a 

ha
nd

fu
l o

f w
ee

kl
y 

br
oa

ds
he

et
 n

ew
sp

ap
er

s 
pu

bl
is

he
d 

in
 W

al
es

. R
ea

d 
by

 a
lm

os
t 5

0%
 o

f 

ad
ul

ts
 in

 th
e 

A
be

rg
av

en
ny

 lo
ca

tio
n 

th
e 

C
hr

on
ic

le
 h

as
 s

ee
n 

of
f r

iv
al

 p
ub

lis
he

rs
 w

ith
 

as
pi

ra
tio

ns
 o

f c
ov

er
in

g 
A

be
rg

av
en

ny
.  

•
C

on
te

nt
 w

eb
si

te
 u

pd
at

ed
 d

ai
ly

. 

 

•
A

ve
ra

ge
 w

ee
kl

y 
pa

ge
 v

ie
w

s:
 4

,8
59

. 

 

•
A

ve
ra

ge
 w

ee
kl

y 
un

iq
ue

 v
is

ito
rs

: 1
,0

18
 

 
S

ou
rc

e:
 G

oo
gl

e 
A

na
ly

tic
s 

M
ay

 2
01

1.
 

F
or

 fu
rt

he
r 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

te
le

ph
on

e:
 0

18
73

 8
52

18
7 

Lo
ca

tio
n 

P
op

ul
at

io
n 

H
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

A
du

lt 
A

IR
 

A
IR

 %
 

C
irc

ul
at

io
n 

H
'h

ol
d 

%
 

A
be

rg
av

en
ny

 
26

39
2 

14
32

5 
12

92
5 

48
.9

7 
48

73
 

34
.0

2%
 

A
be

rt
ill

er
y 

25
24

2 
13

69
9 

32
0 

1.
27

 
12

3 
0.

90
%

 

B
la

en
av

on
 

52
11

 
27

60
 

21
1 

4.
05

 
77

 
2.

79
%

 

C
w

m
br

an
 

38
45

9 
20

45
6 

29
6 

0.
77

 
11

0 
0.

54
%

 

E
bb

w
 V

al
e 

18
84

3 
10

24
8 

72
 

0.
38

 
27

 
0.

26
%

 

H
er

ef
or

d 
R

ur
al

 
38

45
0 

19
96

1 
25

0 
0.

65
 

90
 

0.
45

%
 

M
on

m
ou

th
 

14
85

5 
76

23
 

27
2 

1.
83

 
95

 
1.

25
%

 

P
on

ty
po

ol
 

A
be

rs
yc

ha
n 

32
91

9 
16

86
2 

19
58

 
5.

95
 

68
9 

4.
09

%
 

U
sk

 
46

96
 

24
34

 
26

92
 

57
.3

2 
96

2 
39

.5
2%

 

Page 62



S
ou

rc
e:

 J
ic

re
g 

da
ta

 a
t 1

st
 A

pr
il 

20
11

 

P
er

ce
n

ta
g

e 
re

ac
h

 o
f 

av
er

ag
e 

is
su

e 
re

ad
er

sh
ip

 
•

P
ai

d-
fo

r 
w

ee
kl

y 
br

oa
ds

he
et

 n
ew

sp
ap

er
. 

 

•
P

ub
lis

he
d 

T
hu

rs
da

y.
 

 

•
C

irc
ul

at
io

n:
 9

,6
23

 A
pr

il 
20

09
 to

 M
ar

ch
 2

01
0.

 

 

•
To

ta
l A

.I.
R

.; 
25

,9
57

 

 

•
R

ea
de

rs
hi

p 
so

ci
al

 g
ra

de
 p

ro
fil

e:
 

   
  5

8.
08

%
 A

B
C

1,
 4

1.
92

%
 C

2D
&

E
. 

 

•
P

ro
vi

di
ng

 th
e 

hi
gh

es
t r

ea
ch

 o
f B

re
co

n,
 B

ui
lth

 

W
el

ls
 a

nd
 H

ay
 O

n 
W

ye
. 

•
C

on
te

nt
 w

eb
si

te
 u

pd
at

ed
 d

ai
ly

. 

 

•
A

ve
ra

ge
 w

ee
kl

y 
pa

ge
 v

ie
w

s:
 1

,7
19

. 

 

•
A

ve
ra

ge
 w

ee
kl

y 
un

iq
ue

 v
is

ito
rs

: 6
11

. 

 
S

ou
rc

e:
 G

oo
gl

e 
A

na
ly

tic
s 

Ju
ne

 2
01

1.
 

F
or

 fu
rt

he
r 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

te
le

ph
on

e:
 0

18
74

 6
10

11
1 

 

*S
ou

rc
e:

 J
ic

re
g 

da
ta

 a
t 1

st
 A

pr
il 

20
11

 

Lo
ca

tio
n 

 
P

op
ul

at
io

n 
 

H
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

A
du

lt 
A

IR
  

A
IR

 %
  

C
irc

ul
at

io
n 

 
H

'h
ol

d 
%

  

B
re

co
n 

16
66

4 
88

36
 

83
78

 
50

.2
7 

30
67

 
34

.7
1%

 

B
ui

lth
 W

el
ls

 
67

28
 

35
40

 
38

00
 

56
.4

8 
13

81
 

39
.0

1%
 

H
ay

 O
n 

W
ye

 
67

23
 

35
19

 
32

64
 

48
.5

5 
11

76
 

33
.4

2%
 

H
er

ef
or

d 
R

ur
al

 
38

45
0 

19
96

1 
17

02
 

4.
43

 
58

5 
2.

93
%

 

K
ni

gh
to

n 
97

27
 

51
44

 
26

7 
2.

75
 

10
0 

1.
94

%
 

Ll
an

do
ve

ry
 

64
88

 
32

20
 

42
8 

6.
6 

14
9 

4.
63

%
 

Ll
an

dr
in

do
d 

W
el

ls
 

95
51

 
55

00
 

45
07

 
47

.1
9 

17
94

 
32

.6
2%

 

Ll
an

id
lo

es
 R

ha
ya

de
r 

65
27

 
35

68
 

84
0 

12
.8

7 
32

8 
9.

19
%

 

P
re

st
ei

gn
e 

78
16

 
42

64
 

27
71

 
35

.4
5 

10
43

 
24

.4
6%

 

T
he

 B
re

co
n 

an
d 

R
ad

no
r 

E
xp

re
ss

 h
as

 e
xi

st
ed

 in
 o

ne
 fo

rm
 o

r 
an

ot
he

r 
si

nc
e 

18
92

. T
he

 

m
od

er
n 

pa
pe

r 
is

 a
 v

ib
ra

nt
 b

ro
ad

sh
ee

t w
ith

 e
ig

ht
 e

di
tio

ns
, t

ha
t c

ov
er

 v
as

t t
ra

ct
s 

of
 

be
au

tif
ul

 c
ou

nt
ry

si
de

 -
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

al
l o

f t
he

 B
re

co
n 

B
ea

co
ns

 N
at

io
na

l P
ar

k.
 S

ig
ni

fic
an

tly
 

H
er

ef
or

d 
is

 th
e 

ar
ea

s 
ke

y 
co

m
m

er
ci

al
 c

en
tr

e 
an

d 
*7

3%
 o

f B
&

R
 r

ea
de

rs
 fa

ll 
w

ith
 

H
er

ef
or

ds
 d

om
in

an
t t

ra
de

 a
re

a 
de

sp
ite

 h
av

in
g 

to
 tr

av
el

 u
p 

to
 a

n 
ho

ur
 to

 s
ho

p.
 

Page 63



S
ou

rc
e:

 J
ic

re
g 

da
ta

 a
t 1

st
 A

pr
il 

20
11

 

P
er

ce
n

ta
g

e 
re

ac
h

 o
f 

av
er

ag
e 

is
su

e 
re

ad
er

sh
ip

 
•

F
re

e 
w

ee
kl

y 
ta

bl
oi

d 
ne

w
sp

ap
er

. 

 

•
P

ub
lis

he
d 

T
hu

rs
da

y.
 

 

•
C

irc
ul

at
io

n:
41

,6
21

 J
an

ua
ry

 to
 D

ec
em

be
r 

20
10

. 

 

•
To

ta
l A

.I.
R

.; 
55

,6
57

 

 

•
R

ea
de

rs
hi

p 
so

ci
al

 g
ra

de
 p

ro
fil

e:
 

   
 5

7.
36

%
 A

B
C

1,
 4

2.
64

%
 C

2D
&

E
. 

 

•
P

ro
vi

di
ng

 th
e 

hi
gh

es
t r

ea
ch

 o
f a

cr
os

s 
th

e 
af

flu
en

t 

V
al

e 
of

 G
la

m
or

ga
n 

es
pe

ci
al

ly
 in

 th
e 

ke
y 

lo
ca

tio
ns

 

of
 B

ar
ry

, C
ow

br
id

ge
 a

nd
 L

la
nt

w
it 

M
aj

or
. 

•
C

on
te

nt
 w

eb
si

te
 u

pd
at

ed
 d

ai
ly

. 

 

•
A

ve
ra

ge
 w

ee
kl

y 
pa

ge
 v

ie
w

s:
 3

,2
94

. 

 

•
A

ve
ra

ge
 w

ee
kl

y 
un

iq
ue

 v
is

ito
rs

: 1
,0

83
 

 
S

ou
rc

e:
 G

oo
gl

e 
A

na
ly

tic
s 

Ju
ne

 2
01

1.
 

F
or

 fu
rt

he
r 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

te
le

ph
on

e:
 0

14
46

 7
74

48
4 

T
he

 V
al

e 
of

 G
la

m
or

ga
n 

in
 o

ne
 o

f t
he

 m
os

t a
ffl

ue
nt

 c
ou

nt
ie

s 
in

 W
al

es
 a

nd
 is

 in
 c

lo
se

 

pr
ox

im
ity

 to
. C

ar
di

ff 
 T

he
 ‘G

E
M

’ S
er

ie
s 

ar
e 

qu
al

ity
 fr

ee
 n

ew
sp

ap
er

 th
at

 p
ro

ud
ly

 c
la

im
 th

at
 

th
ey

 a
re

 th
e 

V
al

e’
s 

lo
ng

es
t s

er
vi

ng
 c

om
m

un
ity

 N
ew

sp
ap

er
. W

ith
 a

 b
ia

s 
to

 s
tr

on
g 

ca
m

pa
ig

ni
ng

 e
di

to
ria

l t
he

 ‘G
E

M
’ S

er
ie

s 
is

 a
 fi

ne
 e

xa
m

pl
e 

of
 w

ha
t a

 tr
ue

 lo
ca

l c
om

m
un

ity
 

ne
w

sp
ap

er
 is

 a
ll 

ab
ou

t. 
T

he
 B

rid
ge

nd
 a

nd
 P

or
th

ca
w

l e
di

tio
n 

of
 th

e 
G

em
 is

 a
 q

ua
lit

y 
‘p

ic
k-

up
’ t

itl
e.

 

Lo
ca

tio
n 

P
op

ul
at

io
n 

H
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

A
du

lt 
A

IR
 

A
IR

 %
 

C
irc

ul
at

io
n 

 
H

'h
ol

d 
%

  

B
ar

ry
 

53
04

3 
27

81
8 

33
47

3 
63

.1
1 

23
84

6 
85

.7
2%

 

B
rid

ge
nd

 
44

08
1 

23
81

4 
22

40
 

5.
08

 
22

40
 

9.
41

%
 

B
rid

ge
nd

 R
ur

al
 

28
97

9 
14

85
6 

20
75

 
7.

16
 

20
75

 
13

.9
7%

 

C
ar

di
ff 

28
34

95
 

14
27

10
 

10
00

 
0.

35
 

10
00

 
0.

70
%

 

C
ow

br
id

ge
 

76
02

 
38

31
 

53
73

 
70

.6
7 

36
73

 
95

.8
8%

 

Ll
an

tw
it 

M
aj

or
 

11
81

0 
59

47
 

84
95

 
71

.9
3 

57
86

 
97

.2
9%

 

M
ae

st
eg

 
20

31
0 

11
54

1 
14

0 
0.

69
 

14
0 

1.
21

%
 

P
en

ar
th

 
25

07
1 

13
56

0 
14

26
 

5.
69

 
14

26
 

10
.5

2%
 

P
or

th
ca

w
l 

26
32

9 
13

52
4 

14
35

 
5.

45
 

14
35

 
10

.6
1%

 

Page 64



S
ou

rc
e:

 J
ic

re
g 

da
ta

 a
t 1

st
 A

pr
il 

20
11

 

P
er

ce
n

ta
g

e 
re

ac
h

 o
f 

av
er

ag
e 

is
su

e 
re

ad
er

sh
ip

 
•

P
ai

d-
fo

r 
w

ee
kl

y 
ta

bl
oi

d 
ne

w
sp

ap
er

. 

 

•
P

ub
lis

he
d 

F
rid

ay
. 

 

•
C

irc
ul

at
io

n:
 6

,8
51

 J
an

ua
ry

 to
 D

ec
em

be
r 

20
10

. 

 

•
To

ta
l A

.I.
R

.; 
18

,2
77

 

 

•
R

ea
de

rs
hi

p 
so

ci
al

 g
ra

de
 p

ro
fil

e:
 

   
  5

8.
20

%
 A

B
C

1,
 4

1.
80

%
 C

2D
&

E
. 

 

•
P

ro
vi

di
ng

 th
e 

hi
gh

es
t r

ea
ch

 o
f T

en
by

. 

•
C

on
te

nt
 w

eb
si

te
 u

pd
at

ed
 d

ai
ly

. 

 

•
A

ve
ra

ge
 w

ee
kl

y 
pa

ge
 v

ie
w

s:
 6

,9
50

. 

 

•
A

ve
ra

ge
 w

ee
kl

y 
un

iq
ue

 v
is

ito
rs

: 1
,5

67
 

 
S

ou
rc

e:
 G

oo
gl

e 
A

na
ly

tic
s 

Ju
ne

 2
01

1.
 

F
or

 fu
rt

he
r 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

te
le

ph
on

e:
 0

18
34

 8
43

26
2 

Lo
ca

tio
n 

P
op

ul
at

io
n 

H
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

A
du

lt 
A

IR
 

A
IR

 %
 

C
irc

ul
at

io
n 

H
'h

ol
d 

%
  

C
ar

m
ar

th
en

 R
ur

al
 

21
41

1 
11

35
5 

41
 

0.
19

 
16

 
0.

14
%

 

H
av

er
fo

rd
w

es
t 

28
78

3 
15

81
3 

29
 

0.
1 

11
 

0.
07

%
 

N
ar

be
rt

h 
W

hi
tla

nd
 

11
94

6 
64

50
 

34
74

 
29

.0
8 

12
93

 
20

.0
5%

 

P
em

br
ok

e 
17

04
5 

91
75

 
37

11
 

21
.7

7 
13

66
 

14
.8

9%
 

T
en

by
 

14
48

5 
79

47
 

11
02

2 
76

.0
9 

41
69

 
52

.4
6%

 

T
he

 T
en

by
 O

bs
er

ve
r 

is
 o

ve
r 

15
0 

ye
ar

s 
ol

d.
  A

s 
w

el
l a

s 
pr

ov
id

in
g 

an
 in

va
lu

ab
le

 n
ew

s 

re
so

ur
ce

 to
 a

 la
rg

e 
ar

ea
 o

f S
ou

th
 W

es
t W

al
es

, i
t i

s 
al

so
 p

op
ul

ar
 w

ith
 T

en
by

 e
xi

le
s 

an
d 

pe
op

le
 w

ho
 h

av
e 

m
ad

e 
P

em
br

ok
es

hi
re

 th
ei

r 
"s

ec
on

d 
ho

m
e"

. 
 

 A
ls

o 
un

de
r 

th
e 

'T
en

by
 O

bs
er

ve
r' 

ba
nn

er
 a

re
 th

e 
'N

ar
be

rt
h 

an
d 

W
hi

tla
nd

 O
bs

er
ve

r',
 

es
ta

bl
is

he
d 

19
06

, t
he

 'P
em

br
ok

e 
an

d 
P

em
br

ok
e 

D
oc

k 
O

bs
er

ve
r‘ 

la
un

ch
ed

 in
 2

01
1.

 

Page 65



S
ou

rc
e:

 J
ic

re
g 

da
ta

 a
t 1

st
 A

pr
il 

20
11

 

P
er

ce
n

ta
g

e 
re

ac
h

 o
f 

av
er

ag
e 

is
su

e 
re

ad
er

sh
ip

 
•

P
ai

d-
fo

r 
w

ee
kl

y 
ta

bl
oi

d 
ne

w
sp

ap
er

. 

 

•
P

ub
lis

he
d 

F
rid

ay
. 

 

•
C

irc
ul

at
io

n:
 2

,1
44

 J
an

ua
ry

 to
 D

ec
em

be
r 

20
10

. 

 

•
To

ta
l A

.I.
R

.; 
5,

74
6 

 

•
R

ea
de

rs
hi

p 
so

ci
al

 g
ra

de
 p

ro
fil

e:
 

   
  5

9.
12

%
 A

B
C

1,
 4

0.
88

%
 C

2D
&

E
. 

 

•
P

ro
vi

di
ng

 th
e 

hi
gh

es
t r

ea
ch

 o
f F

is
hg

ua
rd

 G
oo

dw
ic

k.
 

•
C

on
te

nt
 w

eb
si

te
 u

pd
at

ed
 d

ai
ly

. 

 

•
A

ve
ra

ge
 w

ee
kl

y 
pa

ge
 v

ie
w

s:
 9

16
. 

 

•
A

ve
ra

ge
 w

ee
kl

y 
un

iq
ue

 v
is

ito
rs

: 2
73

. 

 
S

ou
rc

e:
 G

oo
gl

e 
A

na
ly

tic
s 

Ju
ne

 2
01

1.
 

F
or

 fu
rt

he
r 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

te
le

ph
on

e:
 0

13
48

 8
74

44
5 

Lo
ca

tio
n 

P
op

ul
at

io
n 

H
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

A
du

lt 
A

IR
 

A
IR

 %
 

C
irc

ul
at

io
n 

H
'h

ol
d 

%
  

F
is

hg
ua

rd
 G

oo
dw

ic
k 

80
54

 
44

10
 

38
67

 
48

.0
2 

14
51

 
85

.7
2%

 

H
av

er
fo

rd
w

es
t 

28
78

3 
15

81
3 

18
79

 
6.

53
 

69
3 

9.
41

%
 

T
he

 C
ou

nt
y 

E
ch

o 
is

 y
ou

r 
w

ee
kl

y 
ne

w
sp

ap
er

 fo
r 

F
is

hg
ua

rd
, G

oo
dw

ic
k,

 S
t D

av
id

s,
 

Le
tte

rs
to

n,
 D

in
as

, N
ew

po
rt

 a
nd

 C
ar

di
ga

n 
an

d 
fo

un
de

d 
in

 A
ug

us
t 1

89
3.

 

 T
he

 1
6-

pa
ge

 ta
bl

oi
d 

ne
w

sp
ap

er
 is

 p
ub

lis
he

d 
on

 a
 F

rid
ay

 a
nd

 c
os

ts
 3

8p
. 

 

 A
 n

ew
 w

eb
si

te
 fo

r 
th

e 
ne

w
sp

ap
er

 h
as

 r
ec

en
tly

 b
ee

n 
se

t u
p 

– 
w

w
w

.c
ou

nt
ye

ch
o.

co
.u

k 
 

Page 66



S
ou

rc
e:

 J
ic

re
g 

da
ta

 a
t 1

st
 A

pr
il 

20
11

 

•
P

ai
d-

fo
r 

w
ee

kl
y 

ta
bl

oi
d 

ne
w

sp
ap

er
. 

 

•
P

ub
lis

he
d 

W
ed

ne
sd

ay
/T

hu
rs

da
y.

 
 

•
C

irc
ul

at
io

n:
 2

2,
54

6 
Ja

nu
ar

y 
– 

D
ec

em
be

r 
20

10
. 

 

•
T

ot
al

 A
.I.

R
.; 

63
,1

70
 

 

•
R

ea
de

rs
hi

p 
so

ci
al

 g
ra

de
 p

ro
fil

e:
 

   
  5

8.
43

%
 A

B
C

1,
 4

1.
57

%
 C

2D
&

E
. 

 

•
P

ro
vi

di
ng

 th
e 

hi
gh

es
t r

ea
ch

 o
f a

ll 
lo

ca
tio

ns
 h

ig
hl

ig
ht

ed
 in

 y
el

lo
w

. 

F
or

 fu
rt

he
r 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

te
le

ph
on

e:
 0

19
70

 6
15

 0
00

 

T
he

 C
am

br
ia

n 
N

ew
s 

is
 a

n 
aw

ar
d-

w
in

ni
ng

 w
ee

kl
y 

ne
w

sp
ap

er
, w

ith
 a

 h
ug

e 
ci

rc
ul

at
io

n 
ar

ea
 in

 

m
id

, w
es

t a
nd

 n
or

th
 W

al
es

. I
t h

as
 fi

ve
 e

di
tio

ns
 –

 c
ov

er
in

g 
A

be
ry

st
w

yt
h,

 s
ou

th
 C

er
ed

ig
io

n,
 

M
on

tg
om

er
ys

hi
re

, M
ei

rio
nn

yd
d 

an
d 

A
rf

on
/D

w
yf

or
.  

S
uc

h 
is

 th
e 

C
am

br
ia

n 
N

ew
s'

s 

ge
og

ra
ph

ic
al

 s
pr

ea
d 

th
at

 it
 c

irc
ul

at
es

 in
 fi

ve
 d

iff
er

en
t W

el
sh

 c
ou

nt
ie

s,
 C

er
ed

ig
io

n,
 P

ow
ys

, 

G
w

yn
ed

d,
 n

or
th

 C
ar

m
ar

th
en

sh
ire

 a
nd

 n
or

th
 P

em
br

ok
es

hi
re

, a
nd

 c
ov

er
s 

3,
00

0 
sq

ua
re

 m
ile

s.
 

 T
he

 C
am

br
ia

n 
N

ew
s 

is
 a

 ta
bl

oi
d 

ne
w

sp
ap

er
 a

nd
 is

 u
ni

qu
e 

in
 th

at
 th

re
e 

of
 it

s 
ed

iti
on

s 
– 

A
be

ry
st

w
yt

h,
 S

ou
th

 a
nd

 M
ac

hy
nl

le
th

 &
 L

la
ni

dl
oe

s 
- 

go
 to

 p
re

ss
 o

n 
a 

T
ue

sd
ay

, w
hi

le
 th

e 
tw

o 

G
w

yn
ed

d 
ed

iti
on

s 
– 

M
ei

rio
nn

yd
d 

an
d 

A
rf

on
/D

w
yf

or
 –

 g
o 

to
 p

re
ss

 o
n 

a 
W

ed
ne

sd
ay

. 

Lo
ca

tio
n 

P
op

ul
at

io
n 

H
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

A
du

lt 
A

IR
 

A
IR

 %
 

C
irc

ul
at

io
n 

H
H

 %
 

A
be

ry
st

w
yt

h 
32

22
3 

15
65

6 
20

12
4 

62
.4

5 
67

47
 

43
.1

0%
 

B
al

a 
34

69
 

17
84

 
13

68
 

39
.4

2 
48

5 
27

.1
9%

 

B
ar

m
ou

th
 

34
72

 
19

02
 

25
13

 
72

.3
7 

94
8 

49
.8

4%
 

B
la

en
au

 F
fe

st
in

io
g 

59
07

 
32

81
 

31
98

 
54

.1
3 

12
29

 
37

.4
6%

 

C
ae

rn
ar

fo
n 

27
22

4 
14

60
8 

37
8 

1.
39

 
13

3 
0.

91
%

 

C
ar

di
ga

n 
11

38
1 

61
38

 
66

8 
5.

87
 

25
0 

4.
07

%
 

C
ar

di
ga

n 
R

ur
al

 
18

21
0 

90
59

 
21

05
 

11
.5

6 
70

9 
7.

83
%

 

C
ar

m
ar

th
en

 R
ur

al
 

21
41

1 
11

35
5 

18
9 

0.
89

 
70

 
0.

62
%

 

C
ric

ci
et

h 
23

55
 

12
28

 
92

6 
39

.3
2 

33
3 

27
.1

2%
 

D
ol

ge
lla

u 
39

45
 

21
32

 
24

55
 

62
.2

4 
92

3 
43

.2
9%

 

H
ar

le
ch

 
29

42
 

15
93

 
12

14
 

41
.2

5 
45

2 
28

.3
7%

 

La
m

pe
te

r 
10

22
9 

51
43

 
50

48
 

49
.3

5 
17

05
 

33
.1

5%
 

Ll
an

id
lo

es
 R

ha
ya

de
r 

65
27

 
35

68
 

11
96

 
18

.3
2 

44
1 

12
.3

6%
 

M
ac

hy
nl

le
th

 
68

54
 

37
67

 
46

10
 

67
.2

6 
17

58
 

46
.6

7%
 

N
ew

 Q
ua

y 
A

be
ra

er
on

 
52

23
 

26
93

 
28

50
 

54
.5

6 
10

14
 

37
.6

5%
 

P
or

tm
ad

og
 

66
19

 
35

68
 

34
86

 
52

.6
7 

13
16

 
36

.8
8%

 

P
w

llh
el

i 
14

93
8 

79
41

 
51

62
 

34
.5

6 
18

97
 

23
.8

9%
 

T
re

ga
ro

n 
37

80
 

20
97

 
22

72
 

60
.0

9 
86

9 
41

.4
4%

 

T
yw

yn
 

66
73

 
36

41
 

34
09

 
51

.0
9 

12
67

 
34

.8
0%

 

P
er

ce
n

ta
g

e 
re

ac
h

 o
f 

av
er

ag
e 

is
su

e 
re

ad
er

sh
ip

 

W
ee

kl
y 

p
ri

n
t 

&
 o

n
lin

e 
au

d
ie

n
ce

 a
cr

o
ss

 t
h

e 
to

ta
l 

m
ar

ke
ti

n
g

 a
re

a 

C
am

br
ia

n 
N

ew
s 

(p
rin

t)
 6

3,
17

1 
a.

i.r
. (

47
.0

3%
) 

C
am

br
ia

n 
N

ew
s 

(o
n-

lin
e)

 3
,3

90
 (

2.
52

%
) 

C
o

m
b

in
ed

 n
et

 w
ee

kl
y 

au
d

ie
n

ce
 6

4,
94

7 
(4

8.
35

%
).

 

F
A

C
T

 –
 5

2%
 o

f o
nl

in
e 

us
er

s 
do

 n
ot

 r
ea

de
r 

th
e 

pr
in

t 

ve
rs

io
n 

of
 th

e 
C

am
br

ia
n 

N
ew

s.
 

S
ou

rc
e:

 J
ic

re
g 

da
ta

 a
t 1

st
 A

pr
il 

20
11

 a
pp

lie
d 

th
ro

ug
h 

T
el

m
ar

. 

Page 67



S
ou

rc
e:

 J
ic

re
g 

da
ta

 a
t 1

st
 A

pr
il 

20
11

 

•
Y

 C
ym

ro
 (

"T
he

 W
el

sh
m

an
“)

 is
 a

 p
ai

d 
fo

r 
ne

w
sp

ap
er

 p
ub

lis
he

d 

ev
er

y 
F

rid
ay

. 

 

•
Y

 C
ym

ro
 is

 t
h

e 
o

n
ly

 n
at

io
n

al
 W

el
sh

 la
n

g
u

ag
e 

n
ew

sp
ap

er
 

p
u

b
lis

h
ed

 e
n

ti
re

ly
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 t

h
e 

m
ed

iu
m

 o
f 

W
el

sh
. 

 

•
It 

is
 d

ed
ic

at
ed

 to
 s

er
vi

ng
 a

 lo
ya

l r
ea

de
rs

hi
p 

th
ro

ug
ho

ut
 W

al
es

 

an
d 

ha
s 

be
en

 e
st

ab
lis

he
d 

si
nc

e 
19

32
. 

 

•
In

 M
ay

 2
00

4 
it 

w
as

 p
ur

ch
as

ed
 b

y 
C

am
br

ia
n 

N
ew

s 
Lt

d.
 T

he
 

co
nt

en
t i

s 
no

w
 m

or
e 

ap
pe

al
in

g 
to

 a
ll 

ag
e 

gr
ou

ps
 a

nd
 a

im
ed

 a
t a

 

w
id

er
 r

ea
de

rs
hi

p 
w

ith
 n

ew
s 

ite
m

s,
 fe

at
ur

es
 a

nd
 s

po
rt

s 
ar

tic
le

s 

re
le

va
nt

 to
 W

el
sh

 p
eo

pl
e

. 

F
or

 fu
rt

he
r 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

te
le

ph
on

e:
 0

19
70

 6
12

50
5 

 

•
P

ot
en

tia
l n

ic
he

 m
ar

ke
t o

f 1
00

,0
00

 fl
ue

nt
 W

el
sh

 s
pe

ak
er

s 
pl

us
 th

os
e 

le
ar

ni
ng

 W
el

sh
. 

 

•
B

ili
ng

ua
l c

on
te

nt
 is

 a
ls

o 
ac

ce
pt

ab
le

. 

 

•
C

irc
ul

at
io

n:
 2

,8
31

 J
an

ua
ry

 to
 D

ec
em

be
r 

20
10

 -
 w

ho
le

sa
le

rs
 d

is
tr

ib
ut

e 
an

d 
th

ey
 a

re
 s

pl
it 

in
to

 a
re

as
: 

 

•
C

he
st

er
 1

17
5 

co
pi

es
 to

 n
or

th
 W

al
es

. 

 

•
N

ew
po

rt
 G

w
en

t 3
50

 c
op

ie
s 

to
 E

as
t &

 S
ou

th
 G

la
m

or
ga

n 
an

d 
G

w
en

t.
 

 

•
S

hr
ew

sb
ur

y 
44

0 
co

pi
es

 to
 m

id
 W

al
es

 

 

•
S

w
an

se
a 

10
0 

so
ut

h 
w

es
t W

al
es

. 

 

•
P

os
tc

od
e 

al
lo

ca
tio

n 
is

 n
ot

 a
va

ila
bl

e 
as

 it
 w

ou
ld

 b
e 

re
am

s 
of

 p
ap

er
, c

ou
ld

 b
e 

1 
ne

w
sp

ap
er

 to
 1

 p
os

t 

co
de

 a
re

a,
 a

s 
it 

is
 s

o 
th

in
ly

 s
pr

ea
d 

al
l o

ve
r 

W
al

es
. 

Page 68



F
or

 fu
rt

he
r 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

te
le

ph
on

e:
 0

19
70

 6
15

 0
00

  

•
P

ai
d-

fo
r 

w
ee

kl
y 

ta
bl

oi
d 

ne
w

sp
ap

er
. 

 

•
P

ub
lis

he
d 

S
at

ur
da

y.
 

 

•
C

irc
ul

at
io

n:
 4

34
 

 

E
st

ab
lis

he
d 

in
 1

86
8,

 Y
 D

yd
d 

w
ee

kl
y 

ne
w

sp
ap

er
 c

ov
er

s 
D

ol
ge

lla
u,

 th
e 

ol
d 

co
un

ty
 to

w
n 

of
 M

ei
rio

nn
yd

d 
an

d 
its

 s
ur

ro
un

ds
. 

 T
he

 p
re

do
m

in
an

tly
 W

el
sh

 la
ng

ua
ge

 p
ub

lic
at

io
n 

w
as

 a
cq

ui
re

d 
by

 C
am

br
ia

n 

N
ew

s 
Lt

d 
in

 N
ov

em
be

r 
20

03
 w

he
n 

ap
pr

oa
ch

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
pr

ev
io

us
 o

w
ne

rs
 to

 

pr
ev

en
t i

ts
 c

lo
su

re
 w

ith
 th

e 
re

tir
em

en
t o

f i
ts

 s
ta

ff.
 

 C
on

tin
ui

ng
 th

e 
ph

ilo
so

ph
y 

of
 c

om
m

un
ity

 le
d 

ne
w

sp
ap

er
s,

 Y
 D

yd
d 

is
 w

el
l 

su
ite

d 
to

 C
am

br
ia

n 
N

ew
s 

Lt
d’

s 
po

rt
fo

lio
 o

f q
ua

lit
y 

co
m

m
un

ity
 n

ew
sp

ap
er

s.
 

Page 69



Media(4)-04-11 : Paper 3 

 

As a substantial newspaper group with obvious interest in engaging with our audience in the most 

effective fashion both commercially and in setting a serious Welsh news agenda, I feel it essential   

that our relevance and range is fully understood in the current debate on changes in the Welsh 

media. 

 

With a three edition daily title dominating the market place in the most densely populated region 

of North Wales and with respected weeklies covering huge areas of North and mid Wales we are 

continually concerned that any impression of Trinity titles providing the only hard news platforms 

and forums of debate presents a skewed version of reality in Wales. 

 

We are a group of titles who are extremely proud of our positive interaction with the communities 

we serve and our championing of the various causes that spring from their midst. 

 

While we are as concerned as other companies with the challenges facing local media, we believe 

there is still a vibrant agenda-setting local media (print and online) in Wales and that the evidence 

for that is found in titles such as our own. We would feel confident that a reader’s search for 

serious Welsh regional news in North East Wales and many other population centres in the North 

would begin an end with an NWN Media title – a position we feel is not presented before you in 

this climate of analysis that presupposes the dominance of England based newspaper groups across 

the Welsh map. 

 

It could be argued that the North Wales was the area perhaps least receptive in the initial stages to 

Cardiff governance. Many areas within our publications footprint looked east – culturally, 

economically and socially to the North West but were no less Welsh for that? 

It is to the Welsh Government's credit that those initial fears that South Wales thinking would 

dominate every perceived need have largely vanished. The administration’s determined steps to be 

inclusive at all levels coupled with the enthusiasm of our local members has resulted in an obvious 

embracing of devolved government in recent years where once there remained suspicion of 

Southern priorities. 

 

We take our commitment to Wales extremely seriously. As the leading Welsh based family owned 

publisher we have and will continue to make substantial investments here. Our titles are printed 

here – in Wales and about Wales! We have formed a pioneering partnership with Glyndwr 

University in Wrexham to provide an NCTJ accredited course to train Welsh journalists to work in 

Wales. No one else is doing this at this level. 

Our big news today is that we are now at the planning stage of offering the first course anywhere 

allowing journalism students to achieve their NCTJ qualifications though the medium of Welsh. 

This a first and has come about again through the pioneering partnership of a media group, an 

academic institution and the NCTJ working together to set a ground breaking vision in place. 

 

Local independent ownership of NWN Media means that it provides the only true Welsh voice in 

the region. We compete with rival media in many of our marketing areas, and that is right and 

proper. However we do feel that as market leaders in many of those areas that we should be seen 

as such when analysis takes place and when commercial decisions are made. 

 

Page 70



Media(4)-04-11 : Paper 4 

Task and Finish Group on the future outlook for the media in 

Wales 

Response from the Welsh Language Society 

The Welsh Language Society has been campaigning on broadcasting issues for forty 

years and has played a key role in the fight for S4C and for a Welsh language 

service on the radio. Since the Society first became involved in this area we 

have believed that Wales should have its own independent broadcasting service, 

which is independent of London and which gives due respect to the Welsh language 

as the native language of Wales. We therefore respond to this consultation with forty 

years of experience behind us. 

1. Our vision 

The presence of the Welsh language in the media is vital for everyone in Wales.  

The Welsh Language Society believes that everyone in Wales, whether they speak 

Welsh or not, have rights to the Welsh language. That is, not only the right to use 

and to learn the language, but also to listen and to see it. In addition, we believe that 

the inclusion of the unique Welsh language in the media serves to enrich and 

strengthen it. Therefore, the presence and comprehensive use of the language on 

TV, radio, the web and all other media is a key part of our vision as an organization. 

This vision is not limited to the Welsh Language Society only. The main aim of the 

new Language Commissioner, who is soon to be established by the Welsh 

Government, is to safeguard the principle ‘that people in Wales are able to live their 

lives through the medium of Welsh if they so wish.’ This aim reflects the ambition 

outlined in the document, Iaith Pawb, published in 2003, that 'everyone across Wales 

is able to use Welsh in their social lives, their leisure time and in their business 

activities'. 

The Welsh Language Commissioner will have a duty to serve everyone in Wales – 

whatever their age or linguistic ability. Learners have identified the importance of 

seeing and hearing Welsh on various media, including S4C, as this is the only 

contact some of them have with the Welsh language outside the classroom. As we 

increasingly turn towards the TV and the web during our leisure time, is crucial that 

these services are all easily accessible in Welsh. 

Challenges to the Welsh language 

The Language Society anticipates that the census results will show a decline is the 

number of our Welsh speaking communities, namely those where over 70% of the 

population speaks Welsh. We believe that several factors affect the language of our 

communities and the ability to use Welsh in all aspects of life is necessary it the 

language is to survive as a thriving and living language. 

Agenda Item 2d

Page 71



Our communities, which are already vulnerable, are facing difficult times. As jobs 

are lost in every industry, companies who produce TV programmes, as 

well as the BBC, have announced job cuts. This is a cause for concern as we 

anticipate more cuts and more jobs losses. This means that more will leave our 

communities to find work, and because young people are affected most, they will be 

the first to leave. 

Effect of the free market 

The negative effects of the free market can be seen clearly in the context of local 

radio, where the Welsh language output has declined significantly due to lack of 

regulation. The history of Radio Ceredigion and Radio Carmarthenshire exemplies 

what is happening. It has also highlighted a tendency for the market to undermine 

Welsh language initiatives, as the law does not protect the linguistic nature of these 

initiatives. 

The failure of the market is one of the reasons S4C was established in statute. 

Before the existence of our only Welsh language television channel, Welsh language 

programmes had to compete with English language programmes for money and 

space in the schedule. We are concerned that the agreement between the BBC and 

S4C will cause competitive tension between the two languages, contrary to the 

message of bilingual equality which has developed during recent years, and that it is 

therefore a huge step back. 

Devolving broadcasting to Wales 

The recent changes and cuts to S4C and BBC Wales show that organizations at 

Westminster have no understanding of the unique needs of Wales. 

There is a consensus across civil society that the proposed schemes for S4C will be 

of no benefit to the Welsh language or Wales in general. The plans for S4C have 

been criticized by leaders of the four main parties in Wales, the Welsh Affairs 

Committee, dozens of unions and language bodies. Tens of thousands of people 

have signed petitions, attended rallies and sent complaints to politicians. Instead of 

fighting the plans, the broadcasters sought to work within the limitations of the  

misguided schemes agreed between the BBC Trust in London and the UK 

Government’s Culture Secretary, Jeremy Hunt, at the last minute in October last 

year. In this respect, the Westminster Government and the broadcasters ignored the 

united voice of Wales. 

Virtually no consultation took place with S4C or Welsh politicians during the process 

of planning to reduce the channel’s budget.  Furthermore, the new agreement 

between S4C, the BBC and DCMS was a fait accompli and was forced on the people 

with no democratic discussion held on the future of S4C. The willingness of the S4C 

Authority to co-operate in enforcing such an agreement was disappointing.  In light of 

this lack of democracy, the Welsh Language Society has announced that we will now 

Page 72



focus on the putting pressure on the Welsh Government to insist that powers over 

broadcasting is devolved to Wales. We call on AMs and the broadcasting bodies to 

support this demand. 

In addition, a situation is developing in the radio market where Welsh is becoming 

increasingly inaudible due to shortcomings of the regulatory regime. Rhodri Williams, 

Head of Ofcom in Wales, recently admitted: 

"Our clear interpretation is that we have no power to do this [set linguistic 

conditions on radio licenses] " 

[Pg. 4, Golwg, November 3rd 2011] 

Having considered the intentions of the UK Government’s  Culture Secretary as 

regards the Communications Bill, we see again a lack of understanding of the Welsh 

context, with the emphasis on the free market and reducing regulation; policies that 

undermine the Welsh language. We believe that the moral right to decide on the 

future of broadcasting in Wales should lie with the people of Wales, and we need our 

democratic body here in Wales to be given the responsibilty to avoid making foolish 

decisions with no consultation with civil society in Wales. 

2. Digital Media 

The importance of open source software to the Welsh language 

We believe that the availability of open source software creates more opportunities 

for Welsh language initiatives to succeed. This pattern is exemplified by software 

such as WordPress, MediaWiki, Linux, Firefox and LibreOffice, where the best 

examples of the use of Welsh are to be seen. 

The Government should invest in localization projects, such as the agored.com 

project  where OpenOffice has been translated into Welsh with the help of public 

funds. The open source code ensures the freedom to re-use the code for other 

projects and purposes. For example, the work on OpenOffice enabled the same 

vocabulary to be used in the Firefox plugin (see http://murmur.bangor.ac.uk/?p=14 

for more information). Most localization projects currently depend on volunteers, and 

so the availability of Welsh language software is patchy rather than comprehensive. 

On the web, content management systems such as WordPress and Drupal are being 

used frequently as the basis for websites for governments, organizations and 

companies. Therefore, content management systems and their themes and plug-ins 

must be considered as part of the web’s infrastructure.  Organizations, business, civil 

society and individuals can use the systems to publish content from Wales and in 

Welsh. 

We therefore suggest that the Government should adopt a policy that favors the use 

of open source software in the public sector - the Assembly Commission could show  

Page 73



leadership in this context.  We further believe that a fund should be established to 

promote the digital projects mentioned above that would contribute positively to the 

media as well as to the Welsh language. 

Investing in a 'free culture' online 

The term 'free culture' originates from the book Free Culture by Professor Lawrence 

Lessig, a prominent figure in the field of content. The Society believes that Welsh 

culture, on average, benefits from online content that is not constrained by strict 

copyright licenses. Therefore, we should, as a society, be in favour of releasing 

Welsh language content in a format which enables as may users as possible to read, 

watch and hear the language online. 

The use of Welsh could be strengthened, and our language corpus could be 

developed and opportunities created to re-use the language on the web and beyond 

by creating opportunities to share Welsh language content or to invest in Welsh 

content projects.  

For example, one of the reasons that Wikipedia had been so successful is 

because of its use of free licenses, namely GFDL and Creative Commons.  

Wikipedia contributors can participate with confidence as the license ensures 

freedom to export the content to be used for any purpose in the future. In the Basque 

country, the Government has taken the opportunity to invest in creating 10,000 

articles in the Basque language on Wikipedia’s Euskara platform: 

http://haciaith.com/2011/06/15/llywodraetheuskadi-yn-fodlon-talu-am-10 000-erthygl-

ir-wikipedia-basgeg / 

As the Government considers investing in such projects, it should 

consider funding research projects involving the use of technology in Wales as 

this could improve Welsh and Welsh language provision in all mediums. 

Furthermore, it should consider establishing a Welsh-only online dictionary, as 

Welsh to English or vice-versa dictionaries are the only ones currently available. A 

Welsh dictionary of this nature would also contribute to the online language corpus l 

and would contribute to improving its use within digital media. 

Learners 

We should be maxmising opportunities to provide Welsh learning materials online, 

by releasing 'Welsh for Adults' learning notes on the web under a free license such 

as Creative Commons. We believe there are many advantages to releasing course 

material in such a way, such as helping learners to develop their skills, increasing 

the demand for professional lessons, assisting organizations and companies in the 

teaching of the language in the workplace. Any such steps would increase the 

demand for Welsh content in general.  

DotCymru  

Page 74



The Welsh Language Society supports the campaign to create a Welsh domain on 

the world-wide web.  In the Society’s opinion, the domain should be given the Welsh 

name .cymru. The Society notes that .cymru is the most popular choice among the 

people of Wales, according to a survey by the economic consultancy LE Wales. 

(Http://www.walesonline.co.uk/business-in-wales/business-news/2011/11/09/ 

internetdomain name-for-wales-of-wales-could-help-business-91466-29742711 /) 

We are concerned that providing the English domain .wales would only confirm the 

discrimination against the use of Welsh which exists in the digital economy at 

present.  

3. The Welsh Fourth Channel (S4C) 

Shortcomings  

Although it appears that some form of financial security has been secured for S4C 

until 2017, the channel is still facing huge cuts, and the independence of the channel 

isn’t guaranteed as one broadcaster is governed by another. Therefore, although we 

are certain that S4C will exist in the future, there is no certainty about the kind of 

future it faces. Unless changes are made to the published plans, we are concerned 

that both languages in Wales will have to compete for resources.  

The fact that the discussions and agreement were conducted behind closed doors, 

excluding the audience and the people of Wales from the process, clearly shows 

how both bodies were thinking.  S4C has departed from what the people had in mind 

when they were campaigning and demanding a Welsh language channel. When S4C 

was established the vision was that is would respond to, represent and serve the 

needs of the people. The channel achieved that vision for a period but by now it is 

seen as a body that tends to centralize work rather than use the opportunity to 

provide work and opportunities for people in their communities that would mean that 

S4C was something that was relevant and which belonged to the communities and 

was, therefore, closer to the people. 

Devolution 

We are calling for the devolution of responsibility over broadcasting because we 

believe that decisions that affect Welsh audiences should be made here in Wales. 

Having seen the way the British Government and the BBC in London treated the 

channel, and the undemocratic agreement between S4C and the BBC, we are totally 

convinced that devolution of responsibility for broadcasting is now the only way 

forward. 

Moreover we believe that S4C should, like the BBC, be placing itself within our 

communities thereby recognizing that it has a role to play in promoting the Welsh 

language economy in communities across Wales, and aiming to make them 

sustainable. 

Page 75



Viewing figures 

The success of the channel should not be judged on its viewing figures, but rather on 

its contribution to the Welsh language. However, we welcome the fact that, 

according to figures for this year, there was an increase of 3% in the number of 

people who watch S4C and an increase of 54% in the number who watch S4C 

online. Having said that however, we accept that S4C could perform better, and we 

therefore call for a new S4C. 

Beyond viewing figures, we should consider other statistics relating to the 

multiplatform environment, where the nature of the relationship between the 

producer and audience is different to that seen on traditional TV. For example, the 

audience can watch programmes on different platforms at any time and participate 

via Twitter, Facebook, games, comments, user-generated content etc. 

A new S4C 

We need a multimedia S4C which is accountable to its people. We also believe that 

S4C should be devolved across Wales and that it should recognize its role in the 

regeneration and sustainability of Welsh communities. 

A wide cross section of people watch S4C. It gives children the opportunity to watch 

and feel that the Welsh language is normal because the characters and programmes 

that they watch on a day to day basis speak Welsh. This should continue beyond the 

early years age. There is a still a tendency to link Welsh with school life and children 

'grow out' of the Welsh language. S4C re-enforces this by producing plenty of 

programmes for young children but the variety of programmes for teenagers is 

inadequate, and this is something that needs to change. 

As technology develops people watch TV in a different way and make far more use 

of the web and mobile phone technology etc. The Welsh language must be part of 

these developments or it will become irrelevant to the normal day-to-day activities of 

young people. A number of projects already exist, and S4C could be part of this by 

providing a small sum for development. 

We are very keen for S4C to extend its remit to include the digital media, provided 

that additional resources available to achieve this, and become a media publisher 

rather than being limited to a TV channel only. 

It is important to secure additional funding for these kind of developments. A 

significant percentage of the S4C Authority’s funding formula should be identified for 

investment in digital media in order to build future audiences, ensuring that linear TV 

remains robust. A digital director should be appointed to develop this. 

In summary, we call for a new S4C based on the following principles: 

Page 76



● FINANCIAL SECURITY – a television channel cannot be run without the security 

of adequate funding. We believe that a financial formula should be provided for S4C 

in statute based on inflation. This would provide the long term stability needed for it 

operate with confidence. 

● INDEPENDENCE - The independence of Welsh language public service media 

is essential to ensure democracy and plurality in the media. S4C and the S4C 

Authority must be editorially, strategically and creatively independent of the BBC. 

● QUALITY - A Welsh language media that is of equal quality to the English 

language media is crucial to the survival of the Welsh language. 

● DIGITAL - Creating a diverse media ecosystem is essential to the future of the 

Welsh language. A significant investment in digital media is of upmost importance to 

ensure that Welsh is given its rightful place within all mediums.  

● COLLABORATION - Collaboration between media organizations and beyond 

is essential to allow our media to be as robust as possible, but this collaboration 

must not compromise the independence of the Welsh provider. 

● DEVOLVING THE CHANNEL AROUND WALES - We believe that the existing 

S4C headquarters at Llanishen is unsuitable for the media in Wales and that various 

aspects of the process or running a Welsh language public media service should be 

devolved. 

● A WELSH MEDIUM S4C - The channel should be in Welsh only; this is what 

makes it unique among all other channels in the world 

Finance 

It should be emphasized that the current S4C agreement is only an interim 

agreement – it must be reconsidered by the time the 2017-2027 license is due for 

renewal. Westminster will be consulting on a new communications measure next 

year. Before deciding on the final arrangements for S4C, the independence of the 

channel and its funding formula must be secured in statute. The Welsh Government 

should lead this discussion. 

Because of the massive cuts to the channel’s budget, the Department of Culture in 

London but will contribute £7 million to S4C in the 2014/2015 financial year. This 

would not be a large amount to be devolved to the National Assembly for Wales and 

it would mean that control over the channel could be moved to Wales. The Welsh 

Government should start providing funding for the channel in order to demand a 

greater say in shaping the foundations for its future. Such a contribution could help 

secure the independence of the channel from the BBC by ensuring that Welsh 

politicians had some kind of control over the relationship. 

Page 77



Along with the broadcasting unions, we published a policy document supporting the 

call for a levy on private broadcasters and telecommunications companies in order to 

fund public broadcasting. According to research commissioned by BECTU and the 

NUJ, it is estimated that tens of millions of pounds could be raised by charging such 

a levy. 

4. The British Broadcasting Corporation (BBC) 

We are concerned about the recently announced cuts to BBC Wales. We believe this 

a threat to our democracy as well as to the life of our nation in the broader sense. 

We are also concerned that a number of major cultural and political programmes 

produced for S4C and Radio Cymru are under threat. While the BBC in London have 

done their utmost to protect Radio 4 they are making very little effort to protect Welsh 

services because they are not relevant to them. This is another example which 

strengthens the argument for devolution. 

We believe that the BBC should ensure that Radio Cymru is a totally Welsh service.  

We have already mentioned the habits of young people, who are very much 

influenced by the media.  It is necessary to protect and increase opportunities for 

Welsh groups, especially the younger ones, to be heard and to increase 

opportunities to discuss Welsh culture.  

Compared to the BBC’s English language website, its Welsh site is of an inferior 

standard, for example, there is no Welsh language sports service on the site now. 

We have also seen the corporation withdraw its public presence from the Urdd 

Eisteddfod. This is all cause for considerable concern as the corporation seeks to 

jointly manage our only Welsh language television channel. 

The current structure of the BBC means that BBC Wales is just a branch of the BBC 

which is not actually given the freedom to operate independently of its British 

structure.  By devolving powers, it would be possible to create a Welsh BBC which 

would enable the corporation to create a community structure and operate in various 

areas throughout Wales rather than being centralizing in Cardiff. 

5. The Printed Press 

We believe that a daily Welsh language newspaper is a vital element in 

strengthening the nation's identity and self-confidence; according to the European 

Union, this should be a feature of every language. Enabling people to read the news 

in their own language would be a huge step towards normalizing the language 

among the population of Wales. It would also inspire and encourage learners, and 

would be a step towards creating a situation where there is a healthy variety of 

Welsh and Welsh language journalism; something which is greatly needed in our 

devolved politics. 

While we welcome the contribution of Golwg 360 to the language’s online presence, 

it must be recognized that a large part of the population of Wales does not see the 

Page 78



world wide web from one end to week to another, because of financial reasons and 

the availability of services. Such people are to be found in all social classes and 

include all age ranges. People who do not work in front of a computer on a daily 

basis, are told that they do not have the right to see the information provided online. 

This is a small example of the inability to apply socialist principles to linguistic issues. 

We believe that the existence of community newspapers are vital to the Welsh 

language at grass-roots level, and it is necessary to build on their current work, and 

to also digitize the newspapers.   

6. Local Radio 

The situation regarding the Welsh language on local radio is disastrous and has 

deteriorated significantly over recent years.  

Firstly, we would argue that the term 'local radio' is meaningless in Wales as it is 

commercial companies who win licenses and manage the stations. They come from 

outside our communities and the service they offer is completely English in nature.  

These problems were highlighted in the recent argument about Radio Ceredigion 

which is owned by Town and Country Broadcasting. Although a successful mass 

campaign was organized earlier this year against attempts to reduce the Welsh 

language output, we are now facing another attempt by the company, together with 

Ofcom, to remove any Welsh language provision by re-tendering the license. Ofcom 

refused to include a clause in their language scheme which would ensure that 

linguistic considerations would be included in local radio licenses. We therefore urge 

the Minister with responsibility for the Welsh Language in the Welsh Government to 

decide whether Ofcoms’s language scheme will include a clause on linguistic 

considerations. 

Ofcom's language scheme. 

We believe that only a Welsh organization can protect Welsh language services at 

the end of the day. But, failing this, we need changes in the law so that a Welsh 

authority can insist that every local radio station provides a Welsh language service, 

as recommended below in the context of local TV. 

7. Digital Radio (DAB) 

Long before we heard about DAB radio sets, a crucial decision by the BBC has 

caused serious problems many years later for listeners to Welsh radio. 

It was decided to place Radio Cymru, Radio Wales and Radio Scotland in the same 

category as English BBC regional stations with the intention that these would be 

placed on a digital radio multiplex together with commercial radio stations instead of 

being on the BBC multiplex across Britain. 

Page 79



This has worked well in England but as commercial radio is weak in Wales in 

general, and there are problems regarding receiving digital radio in large parts of 

Ceredigion, Conwy, Gwynedd, Pembrokeshire and Anglesey, where a large 

percentage of the population listen to Radio Cymru, and this has been very 

damaging. We are still waiting to receive Radio Cymru on DAB in large parts of 

Wales because the model was set by the BBC centrally with no consideration of the 

unique national implications to Wales. 

8. Local TV 

Given the disastrous failure of commercial radio to ensure that Welsh is given its 

rightful place, we believe that local TV presents another clear risk to the Welsh 

language in the media. We believe that any local TV service should ensure that 

Welsh is given its rightful place. In those areas where Welsh is a community 

language, any local television service should be provided mainly through the medium 

of Welsh, and no local TV service in any part of Wales should be allowed to 

broadcast in English only. 

Commercial Service 

The market has failed to offer a TV or radio service which is worthy of Wales and it 

has failed the Welsh language (which is one of the reasons S4C was established). 

Even during the heyday of the independent regional companies who served the ITV 

network, Wales as a country was not considered to be large enough to be able to 

maintain its own service (that's why Wales & the West was HTV’s license ). If Wales 

was not a large enough unit to provide an independent television service how on 

earth are we expected to maintain a smaller service with hundreds of more channels 

competing against them? 

Emulating the United States 

It is clear that the Culture Secretary is basing his plans for local TV on the American 

model. It could be argued that such a service works there because the cities and 

local areas are much more powerful. There is close connection between TV and 

local democracy. TV therefore is used to discusses issues of concern to local 

citizens. 

Local government in Wales does not wield the same power as the councils have 

very little power (who wants to watch a program that discusses on which day the 

bins are collected?). The body that has the equivalent power to that level of 

government in the United States, is the National Assembly for Wales, which receives 

very little attention in the Welsh media and even less in the British media. 

Terrestrial broadcasting is expensive business 

Television broadcasting is extremely expensive compared to new online methods. 

We must question how sensible it is to invest more in a service that’s going out of 

Page 80



fashion, and that will not be available to a significant proportion of the audience 

anyway. Because of its landscape, Wales is more dependent on satellite and cable 

broadcasting than other parts of the UK, and local services are not likely to be 

available on these platforms. 

Using money allocated to local services to create online services, and investing in 

faster connections in the countryside, would make far more sense and would bring 

greater benefits to more people. 

Plans which benefit cities and towns 

The plans presented are only suitable for urban areas as it is rural areas that suffer 

most from lack of access to digital and online services. Broadband provision should 

be improved consistently across the country before considering investing further in 

areas that already enjoy good digital provision.  

A scheme which is hostile to the Welsh Language  

It must be stressed very strongly that this is a scheme which is hostile to the Welsh 

language. In Wales we have already experienced the power of market forces in the 

field of local radio. Because of commercial pressures, local radio services like Radio 

Ceredigion have consistently reduced the number of hours they broadcast through 

the medium of Welsh. They are always trying to reduce the number of Welsh 

broadcasting hours. Those who are prominent in local radio in Wales are also 

leading in the field of local TV and it is their voices that are being listened to by the 

Minister. These are the very people who are undermining the Welsh language in our 

communities by ignoring the language on their local radio services. 

It appears that Mr Jeremy Hunt has already declared at a meeting in Newport that 

Welsh will not be a condition for local TV stations and this will make them irrelevant 

to the lives of many in our Welsh communities. It is also further proof that this is not a 

scheme aimed at meeting the needs of Wales. 

Rejecting the Tories’ focus on competition 

We reject totally the Tories’ unhealthy emphasis on competition and we believe that 

'integration' and 'collaboration' is far more appropriate in the  Welsh (and rural) 

context. A policy could certainly be developed to promote community services, 

working with grassroots partners to serve their communities, but the current 

schemes propose a completely different and abhorrent vision. 

If the worst comes to the worst  

If this Anglicized scheme is forced upon us from London, we will need to secure 

some basic conditions such as a minimum percentage of hours for Welsh language 

broadcasting depending on the linguistic nature of the area, for example, 60% of the 

hours in Bangor and Carmarthen, 30% in Mold / Denbigh, and so on. This would 

Page 81



have to be established in the original licenses, ensuring that it could not be changed 

at the whim of a station’s owners, and that the station focuses on the needs of the 

audience. 

Without such a clause, the plans must be rejected as being totally inappropriate for 

Wales and the Welsh language 

9. Rights of employees in the industry 

We believe that a survey of employment practices in the broadcasting industry is 

needed. We understand that many employees are on short term contracts, with 

freelance employees on even shorter contracts, and that many work long and 

unsociable working hours. We believe that more permanent jobs should be created 

in the independent sector, and that broadcasters should insist that staff in the sector 

are employed on terms that are in line with best practice. Furthermore, employees 

should be educated as to the benefits of union membership. 

10. Recommendations for the Westminster Communications Bill 

We believe that the Communications Bill represents an opportunity to deal with many 

of the problems facing the media in Wales. We therefore recommend that the bill 

should include provisions for: 

● Devolving power over broadcasting and telecommunications to the National 

Assembly for Wales to ensure expertise and the ability to make decisions on the 

future of broadcasting in Wales.  

● Creating a federal system in the BBC - it is essential that the devolution of power 

takes place within the BBC, preferably by creating a federal system, in order to 

ensure fairness and balance. 

● Empowering Welsh authorities in Wales to impose conditions on local radio and 

television licenses 

● Establishing a funding formula for S4C based on inflation in order to safeguard the 

channel’s future in the long term 

● Raising a levy on private broadcasters and telecommunications companies to fund 

public broadcasting 

● Widening S4C's remit to include the provision of Welsh language services on all 

mediums, rather than on television services only 

The Welsh Language Society 

November, 2011 

 

 

Page 82



 

 

Page 83



Media(4)-04-11 : Paper 5 

 

 

Follow up information from the meeting help on 17 November from BECTU 
 

Link to report : Mind the funding gap 

 

http://www.ippr.org/publications/55/1689/mind-the-funding-gapthe-potential-of-industry-levies-

for-continued-funding-of-public-service-broadcasting 

 

Agenda Item 3

Page 84


	Agenda
	2a Institute of Welsh Affairs
	2c Tindle Newspapers and NWN Media
	Media(4)-04-11(p3)

	2d Cymdeithas yr Iaith Gymraeg
	3 Paper to Note

